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SunRice’s Annual Report covers Ricegrowers 
Limited ABN 55007481156 and controlled entities. 
The Report can be viewed or downloaded from 
SunRice’s website, www.sunrice.com.au. In this 
Report, ‘the year’, ‘this year’, ‘crop year 2016’, 
‘C16’ all refer to the Financial Year ended 30 April 
2017 (FY17). The ‘2017 harvest’, ‘crop year 2017’, 
‘C17’ all refer to the rice crop grown in 2017 and 
processed and marketed in the Financial Year 
ending 30 April 2018 (FY18).

SUNRICE’S GROUP STRATEGY  
TO BUILD A COMMERCIALLY 
RESILIENT AND DIVERSIFIED 
BUSINESS IS SECURING  
OUR FUTURE. THE STRATEGY 
HAS ENABLED US TO NAVIGATE 
INCREASINGLY DYNAMIC MARKETS 
AND TO CAPTURE AND ACCELERATE 
GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES.
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CHAIRMAN AND CEO MESSAGES

WE HAVE A CLEAR VISION  
AND STRATEGY FOR THE 
FUTURE THAT WILL BUILD  
ON OUR AUSTRALIAN HERITAGE 
AND PURSUE EXCITING  
GLOBAL OPPORTUNITIES 

SUNRICE CEO ROB GORDON (LEFT)  
AND CHAIRMAN LAURIE ARTHUR
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

$415/TONNE
PADDY PRICE

33C
DIVIDEND PER  
B CLASS SHARE

OUR INDUSTRY AND OUR 
COMPANY ARE KNOWN 
FOR THEIR RESILIENCE 
AND WE SAW THIS 
SHINE THROUGH IN 
MANY WAYS OVER THE 
PAST 12 MONTHS.

FY17 was a challenging year, with our 
smallest crop to market in many years 

Our industry and our Company are known 
for their resilience and we saw this shine 
through in many ways over the past 

As a result of the excellent work of CEO 
Rob Gordon and our management team in 
implementing our Group strategy, our FY17 
results, while down, were better than could 
have reasonably been expected given the 

Importantly, we were able to incentivise the 
rice production needed for key markets 

growers and A Class Shareholders of $415 
a tonne for medium grain through our Rice 

which was made possible due to the 

complement each other and allow us to 

strength enabled us to again pay the record 

enabled SunRice to secure the long-term 
viability of the Australian rice industry and 
Riverina growers – fundamental elements 
of our strategy to maintain multiple global 
supply chains to sustain SunRice’s business, 

In addition to securing Riverina supply, as 
you know SunRice was very busy sourcing 
medium grain during the year to supply 

was successfully done, with the majority 

think of Vietnam I had a few perceptions 

a recent tour of our supply chain, I saw 
10 tonne per hectare medium grain in a 

and farmers were doing two crops per year 

years, it was only a matter of time before 
long grain farmers started to switch to 

still a premium product that’s sought after, 
I highlight this to emphasise that we can’t 

markets are constantly in motion and we 

we are introducing technologies like water 

allowing us to have full traceability back 

is one of the many reasons why I have full 

Speaking of our future, I would like to 
thank everyone who continues to work 
and advocate for it every day, starting with 

Rob Gordon, the SunRice management 
team and our employees for their hard 

the Ricegrowers Association of Australia, 

Federal and State Ministers, who continue 
to advance a strong SunRice and a strong 

Class Shareholders, who together are our 

continue its evolution as one of the world’s 
most successful rice food companies, 
strongly rooted in the Riverina and 
providing prosperity for future generations 

Laurie Arthur 
Chairman
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Delivering results
In addition to these strategic achievements, 
and notwithstanding challenging market 
conditions, the business delivered 

shareholders, rewarded our loyal growers 
with a guaranteed paddy price of $415 
per tonne, while at the same time almost 

the past year and proved that our strategy 
has created commercial resilience and a 

build on our demonstrated strengths and 

promise and reward for our growers, 
shareholders, employees, business 

Rob Gordon
Group CEO

CEO’S MESSAGE

$1.1BN
GROUP REVENUE

$34.2M
NET PROFIT  
AFTER TAX

SUNRICE HAS PROVEN 
THAT OUR STRATEGY 
DELIVERS BOTH 
RESILIENCE ACROSS 
THE BUSINESS AND A 
CAPABILITY TO INVEST 
IN FUTURE GROWTH 
OPPORTUNITIES.

performance and market expansion, this 
year was pivotal for SunRice, as a range of 
external factors combined to create the 

is how it performs in a commodity cycle 
downturn and when adverse business 

SunRice continued to implement a strategy 
that will cement a promising future for the 

now been truly tested and the Company 

Resilience and opportunity
As a starting point, we had to ensure that 
we supplied enough SunRice products 
globally to satisfy total demand, which 

the much-reduced 2016 Riverina rice 

crop not only highlighted the importance 
of our existing international sourcing 
program to drive growth and mitigate risk 
in low crop years, but it necessitated its 

establishment of a sustainable supply 
chain from Vietnam, which contributed a 

total 500,000 paddy tonnes we sourced 
around the world, including 115,000 paddy 

achievement demonstrated our capability 
to secure a sustainable supply base of 

enabled the business to maintain market 
share and brand reputation, especially in 

At the same time, overarching conditions 
in global rice markets during the year were 
characterised by medium grain rice prices 
halving to decade lows, driven by increased 
supply as global paddy production and 

Exacerbating the impact of these weak 
prices were negative macroeconomic 
trends across SunRice’s major markets in 

CopRice was impacted by dairy industry 
upheaval and plentiful on-farm pasture 
levels, which combined to materially 

had to contend with a cyclical downturn 
in the mining industry, which undermined 

ability of our brands to support robust 

that included packaging and supplying 
branded products for key markets, and bulk 

of uncertain politics, a crippled economy 

to engage with local partners to assist in 

included collaborating with the Chingwam 
Rice Growers Cooperative to expand 
rice planting from 80 to 580 hectares in 

maintain a strong market share position 

Riviana continued to invest in growth in 

undertook a full relaunch of its Always Fresh 
range, which included a comprehensive 

pickled vegetable products in Australian 
supermarkets, and whose integration into 
the business was completed ahead of 
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From its foundations as a rice 
processor and marketing cooperative in 
the Riverina town of Leeton 67 years 
ago, today the SunRice Group has a 
diverse portfolio of businesses. The 
Group is one of the world’s largest rice 
food companies and one of Australia’s 
largest branded food exporters.

OUR 
BUSINESS
WHERE WE’VE COME FROM HOW WE’RE DOING
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)
Br

an
ds

OUR BRANDSOUR OPERATING STRUCTURE

Values
Community, Dynamic, Integrity, 
Collaborative, Innovative.

Purpose
With our roots in Australia’s food bowl, we are 
trusted to transform nature’s goodness into healthy, 
enjoyable and nutritious foods that meet the needs 
of discerning consumers around the world.

Rice Pool 
Business

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

A Class Shareholders
Grower Shareholders 

Revenue - Expenses = Paddy price

Rice Pool 
Receival, milling, marketing and 

selling of Riverina Rice

B Class Shareholders
Investors 

SunRice
Our objective is to optimise returns for both classes of shareholders 

through the complementary Rice Pool and Profit Businesses, 
which have mutually beneficial links and purposes 

Profit Businesses
International Rice, Rice Food, 

Riviana Foods, CopRice & Corporate

Revenue - Expenses = Profit

Payments for rice paddy to 
A Class Shareholders and growers

Dividends to
B Class Shareholders

FIXED ASSETS

$218M

SHARE OF THE GLOBAL
JAPONICA TRADE

(AS AT FEBRUARY 2017)

14%

COUNTRIES IN 
WHICH WE OPERATE

8

INVESTED IN NEW TECHNOLOGY, 
R&D, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

$21M
B CLASS SHARES ON ISSUE

55.8M

A CLASS SHARES ON ISSUE
(AS AT APRIL 2017)

806

®

® ®

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

Profit Businesses
International Rice

50606650514
476

420
387

531 551 576

474

281

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

Rice Food

®

® ®

78 80 89 105 113
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WHERE WE’RE GOING

STRATEGIC GOALS

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

SunRice has successfully transitioned from a production-led 
processor to a market-driven food company over the past decade. 
Underpinned by a strong global supply chain network, the Group 
has a demonstrated track record in: innovative research and 
development; consumer market insights; launching value-added 
products into high-growth global markets; and making strategic 
investments in brands, operations and relationships around
the world. 

Critically, SunRice’s Group Strategy has built commercial resilience 
into the company, ensuring we are well-positioned to navigate 
dynamic global markets and to continue our focus on future growth 
opportunities that benefit our growers and investors alike. 

SUBSTANTIALLY INCREASE ANNUAL 
REVENUE WITHIN THE NEXT 10 YEARS

ACHIEVE TOP QUARTILE, 
YEAR-ON-YEAR PROFITABILITY

MAINTAIN OR IMPROVE RETURN ON 
CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE)

MAXIMISE PADDY PRICE BY OPTIMISING 
MARKET, CHANNEL AND VARIETAL MIX

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16

110 125 131 131

FY17

99

CopRice
does not generate revenues

Corporate

1  SunRice 

9  SunRice

ESTABLISH A SECURE 
AND SUSTAINABLE 

SUPPLY BASE

PREMIUMISE 
COMMODITY 

MARKETS

DIFFERENTIATE AND 
BUILD VALUE IN DOMESTIC 

CONSUMER MARKETS

BUILD PRESENCE IN 
HIGH-GROWTH 

CONSUMER MARKETS

DIVERSIFY EARNINGS BY 
ACCELERATING GROWTH 

OF COMPLEMENTARY AND 
SUBSIDIARY BUSINESSES

OPERATIONAL 
EXCELLENCE THROUGH 

EFFICIENCY AND 
INNOVATION

PRODUCTS

700+

GROUP REVENUE (FY17)

$1.1BN
NET PROFIT AFTER TAX 

$34.2M

EXPORT MARKETS

46

DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO

54%

244,184
C16 TONNES HARVESTED

IN THE RIVERINA

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

Riviana Foods

MAJOR BRANDS
30+

148 155 149 139 126
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The SunRice Group includes the  

which are aligned to growers and  

Businesses, which are aligned to  
B Class Shareholders and Investors.

FIVE-YEAR 
PERFORMANCE

Revenue (A$M)1 Revenue (A$M)

Paddy payments (A$M) NPBT (A$M)

Net assets (A$M) Net assets (A$M)

RICE POOL BUSINESS

The milling, marketing and 
distribution of Riverina Rice 
through intermediaries to 
consumers and directly to 
foodservice and processing 
customers, where the supply 
of Australian rice is a key 
driver of the economics of the 
business.

International Rice
The marketing and distribution 
of rice from all other sources 
through intermediaries to 
consumers, foodservice  
and processing customers  
in markets around the world, 
where there is growing 
demand for SunRice branded 
products.

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

531 551 576 474 281
+4%+18% +4% -18% -41%

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

306 344 339 288 100

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

234 187 199 198 166

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

22 27 38 36 28

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

55 73 124 69 58

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

387 420 476 514 506
+9%+10% +13% +8% -2%

FIVE-
PERFOPERFE FFFF

EEEEVVV
PPPPPPPPP R
FIVE-YEAR 
PERFORMANCE

PROFIT BUSINESSES

presented before inter segment 
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Rice Food
The marketing 
and distribution of 
rice-based products 
which incorporate 
additional value in 
their transformation 
process (including  
Rice Cakes, Rice Chips, 
Rice Flour, Microwave 
Rice and Ready-to-go-
Meals).

Riviana Foods
The distribution and 
sales of food products, 
both imported and 
manufactured, 
to consumer 
and foodservice 
customers. 

CopRice
The manufacture, 
distribution and sales 
of stockfeed and pet 
food products through 
intermediaries to 
consumers and 
primary producers.

Corporate
Includes charges for 
funding, access and 
use of manufacturing, 
storage and brands, 
primarily by the Rice 
Pool Business.

ark
tr of 

uct

ting
d

tion
d prod

on and
products,

ed and 

nnddddnnnd

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16

27 35 43 38 34

FY17 FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

100 49 38 35 38

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

27 35 42 49 36

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

61 65 62 96 111

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

4 4 3 1 8

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

10 1 7 13 9

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

9 9 7 5 -2

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

14 13 19 14 26

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

78 80 89 105 113
+3%+9% +12% +18% +8%

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

148 155 149 139 126
+5%+1% -4% -7% -9%

FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

110 125 131 131 99
+13%+12% +5% 0% -24%
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OUR GROWERS

347
GROWERS PLANTED 

RICE
PADDY TONNES  

HARVESTED

244,184
TONNES PER HECTARE  

(AV YIELD)

10.9

R I V E R I N A  R I C E  G R O W E R

reflects resilience

THANKING OUR GROWERS

10



The Riverina rice crop harvested in 2016, 

addressed in this report, experienced 

was delivered by growers. Only 347 
Riverina rice growers chose to plant in 

FY17 Rice Pool.
SunRice greatly values the commitment 
of these growers, who chose to harvest 
Australian rice, which is demanded by 
consumers in key SunRice markets and, 

For those growers who persevered, a much-
deserved reward of the 2016 harvest was 
that crop yields materially outperformed 

that the overall harvest volume exceeded 

Managing crop size through sourcing

SunRice markets was supplied from various 

ability to simultaneously meet global market 
demand and manage local conditions, 
including the ability to source additional 
paddy to supplement the smaller Australian 
crop, highlights the complementary nature 

Research and development led by SunRice’s 

continued in FY17, including trialling 
new shorter season rice varieties 
that are showing potential for double 
cropping opportunities; and work across 
farming systems, bed design, nutrition 
management, direct drilling and delayed 
permanent water systems, weed control, 

rice research in northern Queensland with 
$4 million in funding through the Federal 
Government’s 

Water drives turnaround in crop size 

2016 materially improved water availability, 
the unusually wet conditions also delayed 

these challenging conditions did not 
dampen enthusiasm for growing rice, with 

Various factors combined during the 2017 

and resilient the Australian rice industry 

to deliver a crop despite challenging 
conditions at sowing and harvesting 

was complemented by the success of the 

 approximately 800,000 
tonnes was the largest in three years, and 
we look forward to reporting on the success 
of this crop in SunRice’s expanding markets 

FY17 Rice Pool

RIVERINA GROWERS 
PLANT C16 CROP  
(OCTOBER 2015) 

CROP HARVESTED  
ACROSS REGIONS  
(MARCH – MAY 2016)

C16 CROP  
MARKETED AND SOLD  
(MAY 2016 – APRIL 2017)

PAYMENTS MADE TO  
GROWERS FOR C16 CROP  
(HARVEST 2016 – JULY 2017)

THOSE GROWERS WHO CHOSE TO PLANT RICE  
TO MAINTAIN SUNRICE’S MARKETS AND MILLING 
ASSETS DIRECTLY CONTRIBUTED  
TO SECURING OUR INDUSTRY’S FUTURE IN  
A SMALL CROP YEAR.

 11



RICE POOL BUSINESS

REVENUE TONNE CROP  
HARVESTED

244,184$281M $100M
C16 HARVEST WILL 

GENERATE PAYMENTS OF 
ALMOST $100 MILLION  

TO GROWERS

DELIVERING FIXED RETURNS TO

critical supplies of Riverina rice

MAINTAINING MARKETS IN 
DIFFICULT CONDITIONS

12 



About the Rice Pool business 

marketing and distribution of Riverina 
rice to retail, foodservice and processing 

domestic markets, including all major 
retailers, and typically exports to almost 

subsidiaries, which purchase rice to sell in 

comprises all revenue from the sale of 
Riverina rice, less relevant costs, with the 
balance paid to growers in the form of 

2016 Riverina crop in key premium markets, 

East and Asia, while other major markets 
were serviced by SunRice’s International 

SunRice’s risk management strategies for 
a low crop year, as experienced in C16, 

from C15 ensured suitable volume for 

premiums were paid for specialty varieties, 

as part of a strategy to capitalise on health 

certainty for growers and to underpin 

– a necessary measure to encourage 
production during low water availability – 
resulted in the Rice Pool recording a loss of 

strength of SunRice’s brands around the 
world that command in-market premium 

the broader business and growers from 

by lower global medium grain prices and 
encroaching competition, and demonstrate 
the strengthened commercial resilience 
that SunRice’s strategy has instilled over the 

Additional work was undertaken in FY17 
to build new markets for Riverina rice, 

including the establishment of a new e- 

STRATEGIC  
PRIORITIES

ESTABLISH A SECURE AND SUSTAINABLE 
SUPPLY BASE, INCLUDING INCREASED 

PRODUCTION OF NICHE AND
PREMIUM VARIETIES.

LEVERAGE QUALITY AND REPUTATION 
OF AUSTRALIAN-GROWN RICE TO BUILD 

PRESENCE IN NEW HIGH-GROWTH 
INTERNATIONAL BRANDED MARKETS, 

INCLUDING ENTERING NEW ASIAN MARKETS.

One grain at a time –  

To help SunRice build a reputation 
as a high quality and reliable 
supplier to the Japanese-cuisine 
foodservice sector, at the Deniliquin 
Mill June Grummet ensures 
Riverina-grown rice meets the 
standard demanded by sushi chefs 
across the world. June and her 
Quality Technician team use the 
Japanese Hanasaki method to put 
locally-grown Opus and Koshihikari 
short-grain varieties to the sushi 
cooking test – painstakingly soaking 
and counting 100 grains at a time!

WHERE FY17 RICE POOL 
REVENUE WAS GENERATED

THE RICE POOL BUSINESS 
FLEXES UP AND DOWN 
IN RESPONSE TO LOCAL 
SUPPLY, GLOBAL DEMAND 
AND BUSINESS NEEDS, 
WHILE ENSURING CORE 
STAFF AND ASSETS ARE 
MAINTAINED FOR THE 
FUTURE. 2%

16%

6%

53%

23%

AUSTRALIA

MIDDLE EAST

PACIFIC

ASIA

OTHER
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PROFIT BUSINESSES

11 8%
BUSINESSES DIVIDEND PER B CLASS 

SHARE PAID
DIVIIDEDENDND PPERER BB CCLLASSS 

33C
B CLASS  

DIVIDEND YIELD

COMMERCIAL

in a challenging year

THE VALUE OF A 
DIVERSIFIED GROUP

SUNRICE’S PROFIT 
BUSINESSES SPAN A 
RANGE OF MARKETS 
AND GEOGRAPHIES, 
DIVERSIFYING EARNINGS 
AND BOLSTERING 
COMMERCIAL RESILIENCE.

HMEIDAN RASMI ALEJEL, MODERN ARAB 
DISTRIBUTION LTD, JORDAN MARKET

14 



About International Rice
SunRice’s International Rice business 
sources, markets and distributes rice 
from the Rice Pool business or SunRice’s 

Rice is largely sold as branded product to 

volume is also sold into domestic markets 
if particular varieties cannot be supplied 

business brands include SunRice, Sunwhite, 

International Rice revenue declined by 2% 

Increased globally traded volumes and a 

and trading conditions across several key 

Global sourcing strength

demand for around 1 million paddy tonnes, 

accelerated the establishment of a new 

supply chain in Vietnam – a critical project 

strategically critical international markets, 

Combined with existing international 
sourcing arrangements, including 115,000 
paddy tonnes from the US, International 
Rice secured a total of 500,000 paddy 
tonnes and achieved the important goal 

DEVELOP A NETWORK OF INTERNATIONAL 
RICE SOURCING PARTNERS TO SUPPLY 

SUNRICE IN ORDER TO MEET
FUTURE GROWTH IN DEMAND AND TO 

PROVIDE FLEXIBILITY TO SUPPLEMENT 
VOLUMES DURING SMALLER

AUSTRALIAN CROPS.

SEEK CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT TO  
DRIVE OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE ACROSS 

ALL SITES.

With only a small Riverina crop to 
market, SunRice built a sustainable 
and transparent supply chain from 
Vietnam in FY17. Working with a co-
operative of 920 growers and a milling 
partner, SunRice managed cost, 
quality and service to match customer 
needs. This rice was grown in the 
An Giang and Kien Giang provinces 

SunRice’s market share and brand 
reputation.

9%

67%

4%

20%

AUSTRALIA

MIDDLE EAST

PACIFIC

OTHER

WHERE FY17  
INTERNATIONAL RICE  
REVENUE WAS  
GENERATED

STRATEGIC  
PRIORITIES

INTERNATIONAL 
RICE
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has traditionally been a key contributor to 

macroeconomic malaise was driven by 
falling commodity prices (notably oil and 

natural disasters that caused crops to fail 
and lowered overall income levels across 

a challenge, a dramatic devaluation of the 

to the business: the Kina has stabilised 
over the past year; and SunRice’s exposure 
to a sudden devaluation has decreased 

to maintain a close watch on political 
developments regarding the possible 
implementation of restrictive import 

SunRice purchased the non-controlling 

Pleasingly, SunFoods recorded a 61% uplift 

its operations and returned to its role 

Activity included a mix of packaging to 
supply branded products to key SunRice 
markets and bulk rice handling to supply 

 
 

 

with the establishment of a Singapore 
presence to secure reliable Asian rice 
supply sources and to provide a platform 
to service the burgeoning markets of 

continued to perform strongly, achieving 

Eastern trading activities, to ensure the 
business is ideally placed to capitalise on 

THE INTERNATIONAL 
RICE BUSINESS PLAYS 
AN IMPORTANT ROLE IN 
MAXIMISING GLOBAL SUPPLY 
AND DEMAND DYNAMICS, 
INCLUDING IN LOW RIVERINA 
CROP YEARS. 

NEW SUPPLY CHAIN 
ESTABLISHED OUT  
OF VIETNAM

apo
ian rice
a platformde a

ricce r
po eor

500,000
PADDY TONNES SOURCED 
INTERNATIONALLY

16 

MICK MUGGET, SENIOR MACHINERY 
OPERATOR, TRUKAI



About Rice Food

marketing and distribution of rice-based 
products that incorporate additional value 

domestic market, the business is also 
focussed on expanding sales of value-added 

product and customer mix includes:

and Rice Chips;
•  Microwave Rice, including grain blends;
•  Microwave Ready-to-go-Meals, including 

meat and protein meals and snacks;
•  Private label contract packing for 

commercial customers;

to domestic and global commercial 
customers; and

•  Value-added products to foodservice 
channels, such as the military or medical 

despite unfavourable foreign exchange 

Overall, improved volumes and revenue, 
combined with increased manufacturing 

positive manufacturing performance and 

contributed to Rice Food business’s 

experienced continued strong sales growth 
of 16% in the Australian market during the 

SunRice still commands 54% of market share 

Expanding into new geographies 
Rice Food focused on internationalising its 

well-established and recognised Sunwhite 
brand, Rice Chips sold out in the Middle 

continued, with the chips available in three 

outlets across the United Arab Emirates 

THE RICE FOOD 
BUSINESS DEVELOPS 
PRODUCTS AND 
MARKETS FOR VALUE-
ADDED RICE AND 
RICE BY-PRODUCTS, 
BENEFITTING BOTH 
GROWERS AND 
SHAREHOLDERS.

RICE FOOD

20%

28%

9%

43%

READY-TO-GO 
MEALS

MICROWAVE RICE
SNACKING (RICE CAKES 
AND RICE CHIPS)

RICE FLOUR

HOW FY17 RICE FOOD 
REVENUE WAS GENERATED

STRATEGIC  
PRIORITIES

EXPAND PRESENCE 
 IN RICE SNACKING 

AND MEAL CATEGORIES 
DOMESTICALLY.

BUILD PRESENCE IN 
NEW HIGH-GROWTH 

INTERNATIONAL BRANDED 
MARKETS.

SunRice Mini Bites –  
home-grown hero! 
Mini Bites appear to be the new 
lunchbox favourite for Australian 
school kids following record-breaking 
sales in FY17. In the back-to-school 
period, SunRice recorded its highest 
sales of Mini Bites since launching 
four years ago – 548,808 packets (the 
equivalent of 88 tonnes) in just two 
months! This represents a 12% increase 
on year-on-year direct sales volumes.
In addition to being popular in 
Australia, SunRice’s Riverina-made Mini 
Bites are now on supermarket shelves 

also being sold into China via our new 
e-commerce platform.

 17



410
PRODUCTS

13
BRANDS

About Riviana Foods

subsidiary of SunRice, specialising in 
gourmet food sales and marketing across 
Australian grocery retail and foodservice 

Riviana also has a small manufacturing 

provenance and emerging food trends, the 

retail sector are Always Fresh and Riviana, 
with a further 11 retail and foodservice 

Popular with consumers, Riviana has 
established relationships with major 
retailers and a substantial foodservice 

number of exporters selling across parts of 

External factors, including the contraction 
of the mining sector, consolidation in the 
foodservice industry, retail pricing pressure 
and private label growth negatively 

business also faced continued pressure 
from a fourth year of currency depreciation 

Always Fresh relaunch

Riviana invested in a full relaunch of its 
Always Fresh range, including a traditional 
and digital marketing campaign – a 
demonstration of the Group’s commitment 

encompassed an insight-led redesign 
spanning over 100 products, which 

and restauranteur Karen Martini as brand 

Fehlbergs acquisition

onions and the Fehlbergs brand has a 
strong and growing position in the market 
thanks to jalapenos and gherkins products, 

the anticipated synergies between Riviana 
and Fehlbergs in manufacturing operations, 
importation and distribution processes 
were realised ahead of schedule in the 

RIVIANA AND ITS 
ESTABLISHED CONSUMER 
AND FOODSERVICE 
BRANDS PROVIDE 
IMPORTANT NON-RICE 
RELATED EARNINGS  
FOR SUNRICE.

RIVIANA  
FOODS

HOW FY17 RIVIANA FOODS 
REVENUE WAS GENERATED

2%

7%

14%

43%

RIVIANA RETAIL

FOODSERVICE PRIVATE LABEL  
RETAIL

FEHLBERGS 
RETAIL34%

ALWAYS FRESH 
BRAND

STRATEGIC  
PRIORITIES

STRENGTHEN AND EXTEND 
THE ALWAYS FRESH  

RANGE TO DIVERSIFY 
EARNINGS FURTHER.

BUILD A VALUE-ADD 
PORTFOLIO IN FOODSERVICE 

TAKING ADVANTAGE OF 
GROWTH IN THE CASUAL 

DINING SECTOR.
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About CopRice
CopRice manufactures, distributes and sells 
stockfeed and pet food products through 
retail and wholesale channels to consumers 

and packaged markets in animal nutrition, 
with customers across domestic markets 

CopRice’s core business is focused on 
direct-to-farm sales of pelleted stock feed 

to farmers in the key dairy regions of 

the capability to supply both extruded 
and pelleted packaged products in both 
companion animals and livestock segments 
across the agriculture retail, specialty pet 

supplementary feed across cattle and 
sheep segments of the market in FY17 

were two primary drivers to reduced 

industry experienced sharply depressed 
market conditions during the year, to the 

by 15 to 20%, which translated to lower 

weather conditions generated exceptional 
pasture levels, which, while a positive 

stockfeed across the remainder of 
CopRice’s specialty businesses in all 

In the Specialty Packaged business, 
CopRice’s key dog and cat segments 
continued to deliver year-on-year 

was below expectations as a result of 
challenges experienced in delivering new 
and innovative pet care products into a 

CopRice revenue declined by 24% to 

stockfeed sales materially contracting by 

LIKE THE  
AGRI-INDUSTRIES IT 
SERVICES, COPRICE 
IS FOCUSED ON 
RESILIENCE AND 
RECOVERY.

COPRICE

34%

66%

PETCARE  
(PET FOOD)

LIVESTOCK  
PRODUCTS  
(STOCKFEED)

HOW FY17 COPRICE REVENUE  
WAS GENERATED

STRATEGIC  
PRIORITIES

MAXIMISE GROWER 
RETURNS BY OPTIMISING 

THE VALUE OF RICE  
BY-PRODUCTS.

GROW COPRICE REVENUE, 
THROUGH CONSOLIDATING AND 
EXTENDING CURRENT MARKET 

SHARE, DIFFERENTIATING 
OFFERING AND PURSUING  

NEW MARKETS.

SunRice’s commitment to sustainability 
through taking what would otherwise 
be a waste product, and transforming 
it into a value-added product for an 
existing market. Rice hulls, which 
CopRice already uses in its pelleted 
and other products, are now also 
recognised as a preferred source 
of animal bedding by companies 
seeking to enhance their animal 
welfare practices and to obtain RSCPA 

Farming Scheme’. 
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DAIRY FARMER BYRON SMITH 
ON HIS FARM IN NATHALIA, 
NORTHERN VICTORIA, WITH 
COPRICE PELLETS FOR HIS HERD



AGS increasing pool returns 
In FY17, AGS continued to roll 
out automated moisture probes 
across its 17 storage sheds.  

savings in energy, which, in turn, 
have the potential to translate 
into increased pool returns by 
lowering the costs associated 
with storage. In a typical year, the 
initiative is expected to generate 

About Corporate

income from, and cost of, holding and 

from brands owned by the parent entity 
and other income and costs not allocated 
to other business segments, such as legal 

mixture of bank debt (excluding seasonal 

average cost of capital is the basis of the 
charge to the Rice Pool business for the use 

Corporate and brand charges 

including AGS storage sheds, rice mills, 
trademarks and corporate costs, which are 

items are funded by the SunRice Group 
and, as a result, the Rice Pool is charged 
for these and other expenses, which are 

Actual revenue generated by the Corporate 

internal charge to the Rice Pool business 

a continual maintenance policy to ensure 

the Rice Pool absorbs any cost associated 
with operating the AGS sheds, any returns 
made from third party grain storage are 

in SunFoods, lower proposed Capital 
Restructure costs and employee incentive 

SUNRICE’S 
MAINTENANCE OF CORE 
BRANDS AND ASSETS 
ENABLES THE GROUP 
– AND THE RIVERINA 
RICE INDUSTRY – 
TO SUCCESSFULLY 
NAVIGATE PERIODS OF 
DROUGHT AND LOW 
PRODUCTION.

CORPORATE

17
GRAIN STORAGE 
AND DRYING 
FACILITIES
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DARREN THOMMERS, SHED OPERATOR FOR 
AGS AT DENILIQUIN, WHO HAS WORKED  
FOR THE COMPANY FOR SEVEN YEARS 



SUSTAINABILITY

achieve leading practice in environmental, social, ethical and commercial 

SunRice recognises our impacts on the natural environment and our 

our customers, our consumers and those in our extended supply chain. 

growers using 50% less water than the global average, while our sustainability 

Over the next 12 months we will be implementing an enhanced reporting 

responsible and sustainable business. 
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With around 2,200 employees based in  operations across 
eight countries delivering over 700 products, 
we are committed to ensuring a safe and accountable 
supply chain from the paddy to the plates of consumers 
in almost 50 countries around the world.  

A RESPONSIBLE 
SUPPLY CHAIN

Our governance processes exist to 
ensure our people are accountable, 
and to help them make ethical
decisions.

We’re fortunate to work with a wide 
range of partners, with whom we have 

sustainable relationships.

Employee breakdown

Invested in new 
technology, 
R&D, plant and 
equipment across
the Group in FY17

$21M
New healthy 
(low GI), convenient 
(microwave) and 
on-trend (sushi) 
product lines to meet 
consumer demands 

SUSTAINABLE
SOURCING 

AUSTRALIA

Storage 
and drying 
facilities

17
Rice milling, 
packing, value-
add and warehouse 
facilities

13
Domestic 
distribution 
facility 

13
Corporate 
offices

WHERE WE OPERATE

OUR SUPPLY CHAIN

THE IMPORTANCE OF OUR PEOPLE

41 

Total number
of employees* 2,201

Anti-Bribery and Corruption 
policy training rolled out 
to all Australian and 
international sites with key 
materials translated into 
Pidgin, Arabic, simplified 
Chinese, traditional Chinese 
and Vietnamese

‘Zero Tolerance’ 
approach 
to bribery and 
corruption

Health and safety

Reduction in Medical 
Treatment Frequency 
Rate in FY17

44%

FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

FY16

FY14
FY15

FY17

NEW

SunRice is committed 
to building a diverse 
workplace and 
promoting fresh ideas, 
creativity and 
innovation in line with 
our SunRice Values. We 
are also committed to 
providing a safe work 
environment that 
preserves the health and 
safety of our employees, 
contractors and supplier 
partners.

7.6

16%
Baby Boomer 
1946 – 1964*  

37%
Generation X 
1965 – 1980* 

43%
Millennials 
1981 – 1994* 

4%
Generation Z 
1995 – 2009* 

Three SunRice Group sites 
registered with, and six new 
SunRice supplier and 
customer relationships were 
established through Sedex*

Employees 
who identify as 
indigenous

2.2%
Average 
tenure 
(years)

67% 33%

Male Female

Women in senior 
management roles 
in Australia, up from 
24.4% in FY16

35.2%

In FY17, SunRice sourced 
approximately 500,000 
tonnes of paddy from six 
countries, including from 
Vietnam where a new 
quality supply chain was 
built to protect our 
premium global markets,  
as a result of the reduced 
Australian crop of 
244,184 tonnes
 

Program commenced 
to strengthen our ethical 
sourcing activities 

500,000 

tonnes 

GOVERNANCE INNOVATION

*This data refers to the SunRice Group. 
  All other data refers to Australia only.

Average
age

*Sedex is a not-for-profit 
membership organisation 
dedicated to driving improvements 
in ethical and responsible business 
practice in global supply chains.

!

We’re constantly developing new rice 
varieties and food products that meet 
the health and wellbeing needs 
of consumers. 
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Our success depends on the safety 
and quality of our products, while 
ensuring 
waste reduction.

With our global presence, we want 
to create recognisable and responsible 
brands in our markets and where 
we operate.

Through labelling and education, we 
want to help our customers make 
informed, positive decisions about 
what they eat.

People engagement

12%

There are 8 
SunRice products 
certified as Low GI 

Year-on-year sales 
of these products 
increased by 

20%  in Australia and 

24%  in Asia and NZ 

2016 Advantage 
Group Survey ranked 
SunRice as the number 
one Australian retail 
FMCG supplier in the 
dry grocery category 

Business operations 
established in Dubai 
and Singapore 

PROCESSING
MARKETING
AND SALES

DUBAI

Servicing Middle 
Eastern and 
African markets

UNITED STATES 

Milling, packaging, 
marketing and 
distribution operations 
(California and Hawaii)

SINGAPORE

Managing Asian 
supply sources and 
servicing Asian 
markets 

PAPUA NEW GUINEA

Milling, packaging, marketing and 
research operations, as well as a 
large-scale distribution network 
across the entire country

JORDAN

Packaging 
operation

VIETNAM

Quality and assurance 
operations, servicing 
and managing 
supply chain, milling 
and R&D activities

SOLOMON ISLANDS

Warehousing, 
marketing 
and distribution 
operations

CONSUMPTION 

Training and professional development

Of our people say the 
products and services 
SunRice provides are as 
good as, or better than, 
our main competitors

73%

Of our people 
believe safety and 
quality are top 
business priorities

74%

Of our people are happy 
with learning and 
development opportunities

64%

Training courses 
(including mandatory 
safety compliance)

Employees undertook 
leadership development 
courses

286

88Mandatory safety 
compliance training 
courses

58

Reduction in total recordable 
incidents in FY17 (Recordable 
incidents include fatalities, 
lost time injuries, restricted 
work cases and medical 
treatments)

29%

172,746 
Tonnes of stockfeed

SunRice Mini Bites meet 
the National Healthy 
Canteen Standards 
criteria in Australia

Non-GMO policy in 
place for Australian 
grown rice since 2005

369,515
Tonnes of paddy 
processed in Australia 

Increase in Australian Mini 
Bites sales during 2017 back-
to-school period, selling a 
record 548,808 packets 
in two months 
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Sustainability  
reporting initiative

environmental 
improvements 

As part of our Global Reporting 
Initiative, we are developing a 
comprehensive sustainability 
reporting framework to provide 
greater transparency on how we 
are impacting our business, our 
people and the communities in 
which we live.

As part of SunRice’s commitment to the 
Australian Packaging Covenant, while also 
reducing potential manual handling risks, 
the Leeton Mill and CopRice Leeton are  
now using specially designed cardboard 
collection bins developed in collaboration 
with a local service provider. 

Thanks to RRAPL’s ongoing R&D 
work, new variety development 
is leading Australian rice growers 
to use 30% less water per paddy 
tonne than they were 20 years 
ago, while improved farming and 
irrigation practices are delivering 
a 65% reduction in methane gas 
production.

SunRice gains NSW  
Government recognition
In recognition of SunRice’s 
commitment to sustainable 
business, in FY17 the company 
was recognised as a Bronze 
Partner in the NSW Government’s 

Advantage program, and is now 
aiming to achieve Silver status.

 
lighting trial 
SunRice is replacing its lighting 

last for up to 10 years without 
maintenance. A lighting trial is 
underway at Leeton to 
standardise the types of lights 
used in the business to optimise 
savings while managing quality 
and safety. 

Greenhouse gas  

With electricity usage the major 
energy cost and contributor  
to SunRice’s greenhouse gas 
emissions, the business 
continues to focus on energy 
saving initiatives and strategies, 
including monitoring of current 

equipment and operational 
improvements. 

SunRice continues to invest  
in process improvements  
to ensure the ongoing 
conversion of rice hulls to 
value-added products. In FY17,  
49,000 tonnes of rice hulls were 
sold, with expected sales of 
84,000 tonnes in FY18.

Ricegrowers Association 
aligning with SunRice 
The RGA has joined the  
Sustainability Advantage program  
to develop a sustainability 
strategy to be implemented by 
rice growers. This strategy will 
align with SunRice’s priorities  
of creating a whole of industry 
approach to continuous 
improvement in sustainability.

OUR ENVIRONMENT 
AND COMMUNITIES
SunRice is committed to environmental sustainability across all our operations, through 

protection. We will continue to collaborate with growers, industry, government, suppliers 
and customers to innovate and contribute to continuous improvement initiatives. Building 
on our heritage as a grower-led cooperative in Australia, our business approach and our 
community initiatives and programs strive to strengthen the communities we engage with 
in Australia and abroad. 

USING FEWER RESOURCES AND REDUCING WASTE IN THE INDUSTRY

IMPLEMENTING SMARTER PROCESSES

Value-adding  
our waste

After securing $4 million in 
funding through the Federal 
Government’s Rural R&D for 

 program, SunRice, RRAPL 
and collaboration partners  
have commenced tropical rice 
research in Queensland as  
part of their work in developing 
a sustainable rice industry in 
northern Australia.

$4M
Tropical rice  
research project 

CopRice Leeton reports a 

40%
saving in waste  
costs through 

improved processes 

24 



SunFoods support 
SunFoods continues to support 

in our rice growing communities, 
such as local Little Leagues 
and Future Farmers of America 
(FFA), as well as people in need 
through food donations to The 
Sacaramento Loaves and Fishes 
Foundation, Portland Food Bank, 
Yolo Country Food Bank and 
Aloha Harvest in Hawaii. 

 
PNG’s local rice industry 

commitment and investment in 
the local region, this year, for the 

history, commercial volumes of 
locally grown rice will be grown, 
milled and packed in PNG for 
domestic customers.

Fostering regional  

In line with our Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy, SunRice 
partnered with the National 
Association of Women in 
Operations (NAWO) to host the 
inaugural ‘Cultivating female 
talent in the Riverina’ event in 
Leeton, which aims to increase 
the participation rate of women 
in operations.

back, the Ag Bag, proudly 
sponsored by SunRice, sold out 
to record crowds with proceeds 
going towards rural and regional 
NSW community grants.

$70K
Raised by  
SunRice Ag Bag 

 

Trukai and FemiliPNG have joined forces to 
support victims of family and sexual violence in 
Papua New Guinea through providing counselling, 
advocacy, shelter and referrals for employees. 
Australian domestic violence campaigner Rosie 
Batty shared her experiences at a recent Trukai 
sponsored fundraiser. 

Despite a smaller C16 crop due to low water 
allocations, pleasingly we maintained our 
commitment to the Foodbank hunger relief 
charity for the fourth year running, joining 
forces across the rice supply chain to donate 
almost 60 tonnes of Riverina grown rice or 
860,000 meals!

860,000

CopRice success in Rio! 
CopRice’s sponsored rider, Stuart Tinney, brought 
home bronze as part of the 2016 Australian 

CopRice is incredibly proud to have supported.

ENGAGING THE COMMUNITY

INCREASE IN EMPTY RICE PACKETS  
RETURNED VIA THE REDCYCLE PROGRAM. 

SUNRICE IS A FOUNDING PARTNER  
IN THIS INITIATIVE,  

WHICH HAS ALSO BEEN  
IMPLEMENTED IN SUPERMARKETS  

ACROSS NEW ZEALAND

9.4%

COUNTRIES IN WHICH WE PROVIDE  
DIRECT EMPLOYMENT

8

TONNES OF PACKAGING MATERIALS  
RECYCLED AT LEETON  

MANUFACTURING, COPRICE LEETON 
AND DENILIQUIN SITES 

184

TONNES OF WASTE DIVERTED  
FROM LANDFILL INCLUDING

391
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Laurie Arthur
BAgSc GAICD
Chairman
Non-executive Director
Grower

Chairman, Remuneration; and 

Representative, Rice Industry 

President of the Ricegrowers’ 
Association of Australia and 

Rob Gordon
BSc (Hons) CEng
Executive Director

Member, Agribusiness Advisory 

Rice Industry Co-ordination 

Chair, Australian Food and 

Goodman Fielder, Consumer 
Foods; various senior executive 
positions, Unilever in Europe 

Research Institute of Australia 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Glen Andreazza
AdvDipAgr FAICD
Non-executive Director
Grower

Committees: Member, Finance 
and Audit; Grower Services; Safety 

Ricegrowers’ Association of 

Captain, Kooba Rural Fire 

MAICD
Non-executive Director
Grower (Elected RMB Director)

Member, Grower Services; Rice 

Ricegrowers’ Association of 

Former Chairman, Southern 

Ian Glasson
BEng (Hons) MAICD
Non-executive Independent
Director

Committees: Finance and Audit; 

CEO of Sucrogen; Managing 

Agribusiness PE Fund; Managing 

Ingredients division; various 
management and engineering 
positions in ESSO Australia and its 

Noel Graham
MBA FAICD
Non-executive Director
Grower (Elected RMB Member)

Chairman, Grower Services; Rice 

to Ricegrowers’ Association of 

MAICD
Non-executive Director
Grower (Elected RMB Member)

Environment; Member, Finance 
and Audit; Rice Research and 

Consultative Committee to the 

Former: Chairman, Murrumbidgee 

Reference panel for the Prime 

Grant F Latta AM
MBA BBus FAICD FAIM FAMI CPA
Non-executive Independent
Director

Committees: Chairman, 
Finance and Audit; Member, 

Executive Chairman, GCM Corp 

Management; Europcar Asia 

Kailis and France Foods; Grains 

Chairman, Food Science Australia; 
Export Finance and Insurance 

 

 

MAICD
Non-executive Director
Grower

Member, Finance and Audit; 

Rice Industry Co-ordination 

Leigh Vial
BAgrSci, MEc, PhD in Agronomy, GAICD
Non-executive Director
Grower

Member, Finance and Audit; 

Adjunct Fellow, University of 

International Rice Research 
Institute’s Experiment Station 

Adjunct Fellow, University of 

International Rice Research 
Institute’s Experiment Station 
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Greg Worthington-Eyre 
MBA 

Industries Limited 

Greg joined Trukai in 2013 as 

to this, he was the Managing 

 

and rice industries, Matt has 

Rob Gordon 
BSc (Hons) CEng 

across a number of industries 

Simone Anderson 

in December 2014 and is 

Pty Ltd 

October 2013 as CEO, bringing 

 

business and the domestic and 

BA 

BA-Psych 

December 2015 and is 

2017, bringing extensive 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT

Corporate governance is of vital 
importance to the company and is 
undertaken with due regard to all the 
company’s stakeholders. Although 
the company is not listed on the ASX, 
the Board has taken the view that the 
company should, to the extent possible, 
comply with the Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations 
published by the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council (Recommendations).

This Corporate Governance Statement 
summarises the main corporate 
governance policies of the company 
and outlines the extent to which the 
company’s corporate governance policies 
and practices are consistent with the 
Recommendations.

The Board does not consider that all of 
the Recommendations are appropriate 
for the company given the related 
provisions in its constitution regarding 
the composition of the Board and 
shareholding requirements. However, 
where the company has not followed a 

together with the reasons why it has not 
been followed.

Copies of all the company’s key policies 
and practices and the charters for the 
Board and its current Board Committees 
referred to in this statement are available 
in the corporate governance section of the 
company’s website at www.sunrice.com.au.

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight
Role of the Board  
(Recommendations 1.1, 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4)
The Board is responsible for the 
governance of the company and oversees 

It sets strategic direction, establishes 
goals for management and assesses the 
achievement of those goals, determines 

compliance, in terms of regulatory and 
ethical standards.

The Board has adopted formal written 
charters detailing the roles and 
responsibilities of the Board, and each 
Committee, and management through the 

The roles and responsibilities of the 

Board Charter and the written charters 
of the Finance and Audit Committee, the 
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee, the Grower Services 
Committee and the Safety, Health and 
Environment Committee.

Prior to the election of any Director, 
candidate information, with all material 
information to support an informed 
decision, is provided to shareholders. The 
company undertakes appropriate checks 
before appointing a person, or putting 
forward to shareholders a candidate for 
election, as a Director.

SunRice Group has written agreements 
with all Directors (as well as senior 
executives) setting out the key terms of 
their appointment.

The Company Secretary is accountable to 
the Board, through the Chairman, on all 
matters to do with the proper functioning 
of the Board.

Diversity Policy  
(Recommendation 1.5)
At SunRice, we are committed to creating 
an inclusive and diverse workplace where 
all employees are given equal opportunity 
to succeed.

Our Inclusion and Diversity Strategy 
provides a framework for SunRice to 
achieve, amongst other things, a workforce 

with diverse skills and experience, a 
workplace culture characterised by 
inclusive practices and behaviours, 
and improved employment and career 
development opportunities for women 
and men.

SunRice’s inclusion and diversity strategies 
include:

–  recruiting from a diverse pool 
of candidates, including senior 
management and the Board;

–  reviewing succession plans to ensure 
an appropriate focus on diversity;

into account during recruitment and 
selection processes to encourage 
diversity; and

–  establishing programs to develop 
a broader pool of skilled and 
experienced senior management and 
Board candidates.

Across the Group, the respective 
proportions of men and women 
employees on the Board, in senior 
executive positions and across the 
broader group are illustrated in the table 
on page 31. Key points of note include:

1.  The number of women on the SunRice 
Board and the proportion of female 
senior executives remained largely 
unchanged.

2.  The proportion of women in senior 
management positions in Australia 
increased from 24.4% (April 2016) to 
35.2% (April 2017). This 10.8% increase 
in female representation in senior 

number of appointments of females 
into business-critical roles within the 
People & Culture, CopRice, Integrated 
Supply Chain, and Legal teams.

3.  SunRice’s enhanced recruitment 
practices have contributed to the 
female employee representation 
increasing by 0.8% from 31.9% (April 
2016) to 32.7% (April 2017) across the 
Australian employee population.

Compared to our peer group 
‘Food Product Manufacturing’ (119 
organisations), the representation of 
women in senior leadership at SunRice well 
surpasses our peers by 10.8%. 
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Proportion of women on the Board

100% -

80% -

60% -

40% -

20% -

0% -

FY17 FY16

Women 10.00% 10.00%

Men 90.00% 90.00%

Number of Women 1 1

Number of Men 9 9

76.7%

75.0%

25.0%

23.3%

72.7%

27.3%

76.8%

23.2%

64.8% 75.6%

35.2% 24.4%

Proportion of women in senior management 
positions in Australia as reported in the Workplace 
Gender Equality Agency Report2

100% -

80% -

60% -

40% -

20% -

0% -

FY17 FY16

Women 35.19% 24.44%

Men 64.81% 75.56%

Number of Women 19 11

Number of Men 35 34

2 Senior Management includes Senior executives (as 

of senior managers represents Australian based 
senior managers only.

Proportion of women in senior executive  
positions in the Group1

100% -

80% -

60% -

40% -

20% -

0% -

FY17 FY16

Women 27.27% 25.00%

Men 72.73% 75.00%

Number of Women 3 3

Number of Men 8 9

1 Senior Executive includes the Group CEO and other 
members of the Corporate Management Team and 
Subsidiary Company Heads. 

 
 
Proportion of women employees across the Group 

100% -

80% -

60% -

40% -

20% -

0% -

FY17 FY16

Women 23.17% 23.30%

Men 76.83% 76.70%

Number of Women 510 495

Number of Men 1691 1628

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
(CONTINUED)

Women
Men

Women
Men

Women
Men

Women
Men

90.0%

10.0%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
(CONTINUED)

The following assessment of achievements to date against the measurable objectives in 
FY17 demonstrates our ongoing commitment to inclusion and diversity.

FY17 Objective Initiatives and Outcome

Increase the 
representation of women 
in senior management 
positions to 30% by FY18

Increased Gender Balance
–  During FY17, the proportion of women in senior 

management positions across Australia increased from 
24.4% to 35.2%, exceeding the target of 30% and far 
exceeding the peer group benchmark of 24.4%.

–  The SunRice Group continues to report a much higher 
proportion of males to females i.e. 23.2% female to 
76.8% male.

Increase the 
representation of 
women in Operations 
by partnering with the 
National Association of 
Women in Operations 
through individual 
development plans and 
sponsoring programs

–  During FY17, the proportion of women in Operations 
increased by 3% from 27% to 30% overall. 

National Association of Women in Operations (NAWO)

across the Group to increase membership by 70%.
–  Hosted NAWO’s inaugural regional event in Leeton – 

‘Cultivating Female Talent in the Riverina’.

advertisements as a way of demonstrating to potential 
applicants that women are welcome in our operations/
maintenance business.  

Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation 
Rural Women’s Award
–  Ongoing sponsorship of awards dinner enabling 12 

women across the business to be inspired by rural 
women in our communities.

Jan Cathcart Memorial Scholarship Program
–  Launched the 2017 Jan Cathcart Memorial Scholarship 

Award designed to support talented women who 
demonstrate a passion and commitment to the rice 
industry and who can contribute and play a critical part 
in shaping a positive future. 

–  Provided work experience opportunities for scholarship 
recipients in Finance Operations, Riviana Marketing and 
People & Culture in the Riverina.

Conduct an engagement 
survey to assess 
sentiment on a qualitative 
basis e.g. asking our 
people ‘Are we inclusive?’ 
to understand how 
well we cater for other 
diversity dimensions

‘Say it as you see it!’ Engagement Survey
–  Achieved a participation rate of 63% and an 

engagement score of 62%.
–  57% agreed that ‘SunRice is committed to creating an 

inclusive culture and I am given an equal opportunity 
to succeed’ with only 13% indicating an unfavourable 
response.  Sentiment was split evenly between males 
and females. 

–  We also conducted a survey in Trukai with a focus on 
cultural intelligence of the expatriate leadership.

–  To further assess sentiment around inclusion we 
launched onboarding and exit interview surveys.

Cascade Inclusive 
Leadership Program 
across the Group to foster 
and harness diversity of 
thinking

Build Your Leader Identity
–  Cascaded Leader Identity program to 100 team leaders 

and team members in Integrated Supply Chain, which 
aims to unleash the leadership potential of every 
individual.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
(CONTINUED)

FY17 Objective Initiatives and Outcome

Introduction of a Diversity 
Working Group to monitor 
Diversity and Inclusion 
(D&I) program/initiative 
outcomes, set measurable 
objectives, and examine 
metrics to measure 
progress of D&I programs

Diversity Working Group 
–  Will launch Diversity Working Group to monitor 

inclusion and diversity program/initiatives to ensure 

and individual performance and wellbeing.
Other initiatives focusing on development and education 
include:
–  Partnered with FemiliPNG to support employees who 

have been victims of sexual or domestic violence.
–  Increased participation in the Courage: Inclusive 

Leadership in Action for senior leaders.
–  Participated in the National Aborigines and Islanders 

Day Observance Committee (NAIDOC) week 
celebrations.

–  Adopted a disability and employment initiative at our 
Brandon Mill.

Education of our 

needs fair application.  
Demonstrate more 
opportunities to say ‘yes’ 

Flexible Work Practices

male and female population.  
–  Principle based decision making which are aligned to 

the Workplace Gender Equality Agency.
–  Educating our leaders and providing refresher 

and unconscious bias when recruiting and during 
remuneration reviews.

Building on our desire to create an inclusive work environment for all our people, we are 
aware that the benchmark keeps rising and we must not stand still if we are to continue 
to attract and retain the best talent. We have set ourselves the following measurable 
objectives for FY18.

FY18 Measurable Objectives
For FY18, the proposed measurable objectives will be:

1.  Continue to focus on increasing the representation of women in senior management 
positions by setting a target of 40% for FY18. 

3.  Deliver on action plans arising from our ‘Say it as you see it!’ engagement survey and 
cultural intelligence survey in Trukai so we can increase our inclusion engagement 
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Board Performance Evaluation 
(Recommendation 1.6)
SunRice has an established practice of 
annual performance review, covering 
the Board as a whole, Committees and 
individual director contributions. In 
2016/7, this review was conducted by 
an independent third party with broad 
terms of reference including the role of 

of operations and opportunities for 
improvement.

All Directors and a number of members 
of the senior executive team participated 
in the review, as did selected key 
stakeholders. The review process involved 
online surveys, interviews and group 
discussions and also included an analysis 
and assessment of the governance of 
SunRice broadly.

The review concluded with a workshop for 
the Board to discuss and agree actions for 

suggested changes to various procedural 
matters; and recommending revised 
practices to facilitate full contribution from 
all Board members.

An action plan has been developed and 
has set priorities for the next 12 months 
and progress against agreed areas 
will be monitored. All non-executive 
directors participated in a full self and 
peer review process, which allowed for a 
comprehensive assessment of skills and 
a complementary development program 
tailored for individual needs. 

The review results will allow SunRice to 
assess performance in 12 months time 
when the Board next conducts an internal 
evaluation. 

Management Performance Evaluation 
(Recommendation 1.7)
The company has established processes 
for evaluating the performance of its 
senior executives. In summary, each 
senior executive is evaluated against the 
achievement of pre-agreed performance 
objectives. The evaluation process is 
conducted annually and is followed 
by the determination of appropriate 
remuneration of the relevant senior 
executive.

Detailed information regarding the 
company’s remuneration practices is 
provided in the Remuneration Report. 
An evaluation of senior executives has 
taken place during the reporting period in 
accordance with the processes described 
above.

Principle 2 – Structure the  
Board to add value
Nomination Committee 
(Recommendation 2.1)
The role of the Nomination Committee is 
to identify the attributes that are required 
by the Board and to enhance those 
attributes, both on an ongoing basis and 
in the circumstances that candidates are 
recommended to shareholders for election 
to the Board.

The conduct, objectives and proceedings 
of this Committee are governed by a 
charter, approved by the Board. All 
members of the Committee are non-
executive Directors.

Currently, the membership of the 
Committee is comprised of two 
independent Directors and two non-
independent Directors. The Chairman 
of the Board is the Chairman of the 
Committee.

The composition of the Nomination 
Committee does not comply with 
Recommendation 2.1 of the ASX Principles 
to the extent that it recommends that 
a nomination committee consists of a 
majority of independent Directors and 
is chaired by an Independent Director. 
However, the Board believes that in the 
context of the current make-up and size of 
the Board, the perspective and expertise 
that the current members bring to the 
Committee is appropriate.

The Committee charter is available on the 
company’s website at www.sunrice.com.au.

of the Committee members and their 
attendance at the meetings of the 
Committee are included in the Directors’ 
Report of the company’s Annual Report.

Details of Directors  
(Recommendation 2.2)
The Board’s composition is determined 
by the company’s constitution and has 
been established to comprise of up to four 
Directors who are A Class Shareholders, 
up to three elected members of the Rice 
Marketing Board (who are also A Class 
Shareholders), and up to three Directors 
who are persons with appropriate 
experience to be appointed as a Director 
(one of whom may be an employee of the 
company).

Within the constraints of the company’s 
constitution, the company aims to achieve 

skills among the Directors.

As part of the Board performance review, 
work was performed on assessing the 
skills of the Board. Consistent with the 
Group strategy to build a commercially 

Board has a stated intention to replace 
one Grower Director with an External 
Director, as well as to continue to develop 
the skills of the current Board.

Elections are held for the four Directors, 
who are A Class Shareholders, every four 
years (or such other period as the A Class 
Shareholders may determine concluding 
at the end of the annual general meeting 

retiring Director is eligible for re-election.

The three elected members of the Rice 
Marketing Board are appointed to the Board 
on their election to the Rice Marketing 

shareholders at the next Annual General 
Meeting of the company for the period of 
their term on the Rice Marketing Board, 
which is currently four years.

The procedure for the selection and 
appointment of new Directors and the 
re-election of incumbent Directors, and 
the Board’s policy for the nomination and 
appointment of Directors, is set out in the 
Nomination Committee Charter.

Independence of Directors 
(Recommendations 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5)
The independence, relevant skills, 
experience and expertise held by each 

Report are provided in the Annual Report.

The company’s independent Directors are 
Grant F Latta and Ian D Glasson.

The Board considers a Director to be 
independent only where they are free of any 
interest, position, association or relationship 

his or her capacity to bring an independent 
judgement to bear on issues before the 
Board and to act in the best interests of the 
company and its shareholders generally.

In accordance with the commentary to 
the ASX Principles, a Director who is 
employed in an executive capacity by the 
company or any of its subsidiaries will 
not be an independent Director. In other 
respects, the Board has not set materiality 

to assess relationships on the individual 
circumstances applicable on a case-by-
case basis, and where appropriate with the 
assistance of external advice.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
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The Board regularly reviews the 
independence of each non-executive 
Director. Each non-executive Director 
is required to provide to the Board all 
information that may be relevant to this 
assessment. In addition, all Directors 
are required to disclose to the Board 

material personal interest in any matter 

Directors who are A Class Shareholders 
supply rice to the company on the same 
terms as other rice suppliers, and the 
company’s procedures and systems 
ensure that the Paddy Price is set 
according to the commercial interests and 
needs of the company.

However, the Board recognises that 
there may be a perception that the rice 
supply relationship between the company 

decision-making of these Directors.

Accordingly, while they are able to bring 
an independent judgement to bear on 
Board decisions, the seven Directors who 
are A Class Shareholders have not been 
characterised as independent due to this 
potential perception concern. This means 
that contrary to Recommendation 2.4 
and 2.5 of the ASX Principles, the Board 
does not have a majority of independent 
Directors nor an independent Chairman. 
However, the company complies with 
Recommendation 2.5 to the extent that it 
requires the Chairman of the Board not to 
be the same person as the CEO.

Induction for new Directors 
(Recommendation 2.6)
The company has a program in place for 
inducting new Directors and providing 
appropriate professional development 
opportunities for Directors to develop 
and maintain the skills and knowledge 
needed to perform their role as Directors 

Access to information
The Board’s policy is to enable Directors 
to seek independent professional advice 

discussing such intentions with the 
Chairman. The Chairman determines if the 
estimated cost is reasonable, but without 
impeding the seeking of advice. In the case 
of Chairman related issues, reference is 
made to the Chairman of the Finance and 
Audit Committee.

Principle 3 – Act ethically and 
responsibly
All Directors, senior management and 
employees are expected to act with the 
utmost integrity and objectivity, striving 
at all times to enhance the reputation and 
performance of the company.

The Board has approved Codes of Conduct 
for Directors and employees and a Share 
Trading Policy.

Code of Conduct  
(Recommendation 3.1)
The Board recognises the company’s 
legal and commercial obligations to 
all legitimate stakeholders, and this is 
formally recognised in the company’s 
Code of Conduct which addresses its 
commitment to compliance with its legal 
obligations to stakeholders.

The company has established a Group 
Code of Conduct which applies to all 

contractors of the company. All Directors 
also need to comply with the Directors’ 
Code of Conduct.

Share Trading Policy
The Share Trading Policy applies to 
all Directors, executives, employees, 
consultants and professional advisers 

periods during which the Directors and 
executives of the company may purchase 
and sell the company’s securities, and sets 

trading by Directors.

Copies of the Directors’ Code of Conduct, 
Group Code of Conduct and Share Trading 
Policy are available on the company’s 
website at www.sunrice.com.au.

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in 
corporate reporting
Finance and Audit Committee 
(Recommendation 4.1)
The role of the Finance and Audit 
Committee is to provide the Board with 
additional assurance regarding the 

information prepared for the Board, and 
the internal control and risk management 
systems of the company.

The conduct, objectives and proceedings 
of this Committee are governed by a 
Charter approved by the Board. All 
members of the Committee must be non-
executive Directors and the Chairman of 
the Board cannot be the Chairman of the 

of the internal auditor and external auditor 
are invited to attend the meetings.

The Committee meets regularly with 
the internal and external auditors, 
without senior management, to review 
the scope and adequacy of their work 
and to consider the implementation 
of recommendations from the audit 
processes.

The Committee conducts a formal 
assessment of the external auditor’s 
performance annually and reports the 
outcome to the Board. The Committee also 
meets with the external auditor to discuss 
audit planning matters, statutory reporting 
and, as required, for any special reviews or 
investigations deemed necessary by the 
Board.

The Board has resolved that it is 

ongoing taxation compliance and advisory 
services in addition to its normal audit 
function. However, as a broad guideline it 
is considered inappropriate for the audit 

would impair its professional independence.

A comprehensive policy dealing with this 
area is in place and approved by the Board. 
Adherence to the policy is closely monitored 
by the Finance and Audit Committee.  
A copy of the company’s Corporate Policy 
on Audit Services by the External Audit Firm 
is available on the company’s website.

The Committee is also responsible for the 
internal audit program of the company, 
which is totally independent of the external 
audit function. The Committee reviews and 
monitors the program and reviews internal 
audit reports. The internal audit function 
has been outsourced to KPMG.

Currently, the membership of the 
Committee is comprised of two 
independent Directors and three non-
independent Directors. An independent 
Director is the Chairman of the Committee.

The composition of the Finance and 
Audit Committee does not comply with 
Recommendation 4.1 of the ASX Principles 
to the extent that it recommends that an 
audit committee consists of a majority 
of independent Directors. However, the 
Board believes that, in the context of the 
current make up and size of the Board, 
the perspective and expertise that the 
current members bring to the Committee 
is appropriate.

of the Committee members and their 
attendance at the meetings of the 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
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Committee are included in the Directors’ 
Report of the company’s Annual Report.

In accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, the lead partner and the review 
partner of the external auditor will be 

The Committee charter is available on the 
company’s website at www.sunrice.com.au.

Financial records  
(Recommendation 4.2)

Board receives a declaration from the 

statements comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and give a true 

performance of the entity, and that the 
opinion has been formed on the basis 
of a sound system of risk management 
and internal control which is operating 

External auditor’s attendance at the 
Annual General Meeting 
(Recommendation 4.3)
The external auditor attends the 
company’s Annual General Meeting to 
be available to answer questions from 
shareholders relevant to the audit.

Principle 5 – Make timely and  
balanced disclosure
Continuous disclosure 
(Recommendation 5.1)
As the company’s B Class Shares are 
quoted on the National Stock Exchange 
(NSX), the company complies with the 
continuous disclosure requirements of  
the NSX Listing Rules.

In particular, the NSX Listing Rules oblige 
the company to disclose any information 
that is necessary to enable an appraisal 

information that a reasonable person 

on the price or value of the company’s 
securities.

The Board has established policies 
and procedures that are overseen by 
a Disclosure Committee established to 
ensure that the company complies with its 
continuous disclosure obligations.

The company’s continuous disclosure 
policy is consistent with the ASX Principles, 
except that the company is obliged to 

comply with the disclosure provisions of 
the NSX Listing Rules rather than the ASX 
Listing Rules.

The Continuous Disclosure and 
Communications Policy is available on the 
company’s website at www.sunrice.com.au.

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of 
security holders
The Continuous Disclosure 
and Communications Policy 
(Recommendations 6.1, 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4)
The company’s communication policy 

stakeholders, including shareholders, to 
assist them in making informed decisions 

Communication initiatives undertaken 
by the company include regular business 

media announcements, and the company 
website at www.sunrice.com.au.

When any stakeholders are updated 
on material aspects of the company’s 
operations, the information is provided 
to shareholders and posted on the 
company’s website, and disclosed to the 
NSX. All recent company announcements, 
media releases, details of company 
meetings and annual reports are also 
available on the company’s website.

Any other information disclosed to the NSX 
is posted on the company’s website  
as soon as it is disclosed to the NSX.

All Board members attend the Annual 
General Meeting (AGM) and are available 
to answer questions.

Notice of the AGM, and related papers, 
are sent to all shareholders at least 28 
days before the meeting. Resolutions are 
proposed on each substantially separate 
issue, including in relation to the Annual 
Accounts and the Remuneration Report.

Shareholders of the company have the 
option to receive communications from, 
and send communications to, the company 
and its security registry electronically.

The Continuous Disclosure and 
Communications Policy is available on the 
company’s website at www.sunrice.com.au.

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk
Risk management oversight 
(Recommendations 7.1 and 7.2)
The Board oversees the establishment, 
implementation and review of the 
company’s risk management framework, 
which has been established to identify, 

assess, monitor and manage operational, 

The responsibility for ongoing review of 
risk management has been delegated 
to the Finance and Audit Committee 
who conduct formal reviews at least 
twice a year. While the Chairman of 
the Finance and Audit Committee is an 
independent Director, the membership 
of the Committee does not comprise 
of a majority of independent Directors 
and, accordingly, does not comply with 
Recommendation 7.1 of the ASX Principles. 
However, the Board believes that the 
composition of the Finance and Audit 
Committee is appropriate in the context 
of the current make-up and size of the 
Board and brings the expertise required 
in order to oversee the company’s risk 
management framework.

The Finance and Audit Committee has 
conducted a review of the company’s 
risk management framework during the 
reporting period to satisfy itself that the 
risk management framework continues to 
be sound.

The Board’s risk strategy is to minimise 
risk so as to ensure that it does not inhibit 
the company from operating its business 
and pursuing its goals and objectives. The 

for the establishment and maintenance of 

for the reinforcement of a risk management 
culture throughout the company.

Management has reported to the Finance 
and Audit Committee and the Board on 

and internal control system during the 
year, and of the company’s management of 
its material business risks.

The company has established a well 
documented system of internal controls 
that take account of key business 
exposures. The system is designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded, proper accounting 

information is timely and reliable.

Internal audit function 
(Recommendation 7.3)
The internal audit function plays a key role 
in providing an objective and continuing 

company’s internal control systems.  
It ensures information is reliable and has 

adhered to.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
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The internal auditor has direct access to 
the Finance and Audit Committee and to 
the Board. 

The company has implemented insurance 
arrangements and constantly evaluates 
the economic balance between self 
insurance of risks and risk transfer.

Economic, environmental and  
social sustainability risks  
(Recommendation 7.4)
The Board and management have 

exposure to the following economic 
sustainability risks, which are now 
managed in the following segments. 

material exposure to environmental or 
social sustainability risks.

It is intended that a sustainability reporting 
framework will be established and 
implemented over the next year and will 
also be made available on the company’s 
website at www.sunrice.com.au.

Work Health and Safety Risk
The company operates a number of 
manufacturing sites and is exposed to 
the risk of injury to its employees or 
contractors. If a workplace injury occurs 
and the company is found to have 
breached its obligations under work 
health and safety laws, it may be subject to 

penalties. It may also be required to pay 

damage and loss of production. The 
company has work, health and safety 
policies and programs in place to address 
this risk.

Workplace health and safety is a key 
priority for the company, with substantial 
investment across many years in safety 
systems, training and equipment, as 
well as ongoing work underpinning the 
maintenance of relevant Occupational 
Health and Safety Management System 

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange 
risk. Foreign exchange risk arises from 
future commercial transactions and 
recognised assets and liabilities that are 
denominated in a currency, that is not the 
entity’s functional currency.

The Group’s risk management policy is to 
hedge, where possible, its foreign currency 
exposure. The carrying value of the 
Group’s assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currency and the translation  

of overseas businesses’ results for the 
reporting period, would be impacted by 
any movement in exchange rates.

Sovereign Risk
The company conducts business with 
and in a number of foreign countries. Any 
political, legal, economic or social change 
in these countries has the potential to 
impact its operational returns and the 
value of its investment in these countries. 
Whilst some of the countries the company 
operates in are regarded as having high 
sovereign risk, the company closely 
monitors changes in those countries 
and takes pro-active steps to mitigate its 
exposure.

Supply of Rice

in the volume and quality of rice supplied 
by its growers. Fluctuations in supply 
may, when in surplus, result in greater 
volumes being sold on the world market 
at prevailing commodity prices, or, 
when in short supply, endanger market 
relationships and/or result in under-
recovery of overheads. The company 
closely monitors the anticipated level of 
production by Australian rice growers 
and the extent to which rice needs to be 
sourced from overseas suppliers.

When necessary, the company will source 
rice from overseas locations to satisfy 
its market requirements. The success of 
this strategy is dependent upon acquiring 
regular supplies of high quality rice at a 
competitive price. The company closely 
monitors the level of production of rice 
overseas.

Regulatory Risk
The Rice Marketing Act 1983 (NSW) (the 
Act) sets out the regime under which the 
company operates as an Authorised Buyer 
appointed by the Rice Marketing Board 
for the State of NSW (RMB) to provide a 
single export desk for NSW grown rice. 
A proclamation vesting all NSW grown 

RMB can appoint additional Authorised 

the company’s market share of domestic 
rice sales. RMB has appointed the 
company as the exclusive exporter of NSW 
grown rice under the Sole and Exclusive 
Export Agreement. This agreement can 
be terminated by RMB giving at least 

falls away if vesting proclamation is not 
renewed in 2022.

The company continues to assess and 

and, when required, provides evidence of 
this to the NSW Government to support 
the continuation of vesting and the single 
export desk enjoyed by it.

Safety, Health and  
Environment Committee
The Safety, Health and Environment 
Committee has been established to 
support the provision of robust systems 
to ensure that the company achieves 
and maintains its objectives in relation 
to safety, health and environment, 
including all relevant legislation, policies 
and targets. The Committee reviews and 
makes recommendations to the Board 
on policies in relation to Safety, Health 
and Environment policies, priorities and 
targets.

The conduct, objectives and proceedings 
of this Committee are governed by a 
charter approved by the Board. A Non-
Executive Director is Chairman of the 
Committee.

Committee members and their attendance 
at the meetings of the Committee are 
included in the Directors’ Report of the 
company’s Annual Report.

The Committee charter is available on the 
company’s website at www.sunrice.com.au.

Grower Services Committee 
The role of the Grower Services Committee 
is to optimise the interdependent 
relationship between the company and 
rice growers to achieve alignment and 
integration of activities and business plans.

The Committee reviews and makes 
recommendations to the Board on policies 
in relation to on-farm production of rice 
and services to growers.

The conduct, objectives and proceedings 
of this Committee are governed by 
a charter approved by the Board. All 
members of the Committee are non-
executive Directors.

Committee members and their attendance 
at the meetings of the Committee are 
included in the Directors’ Report of the 
company’s Annual Report.

The Committee charter is available on the 
company’s website at www.sunrice.com.au.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
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Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and 
responsibly
Remuneration Committee 
(Recommendation 8.1, 8.2 and 8.3)
The role of the Remuneration Committee 
is to review and make recommendations 
to the Board on the company’s approach 
to remuneration and related matters to 
recognise and reward performance. The 

the packages and policies applicable to 

senior management, and serves a role in 
the evaluation of the performance of the 

Remuneration policies are competitively 

experienced employees. The Committee 
obtains independent advice on 
remuneration packages and trends in 
comparative companies.

The conduct, objectives and proceedings 
of this Committee are governed by 
a charter approved by the Board. All 
members of the Committee are non-
executive Directors.

Currently, the membership of the 
Committee is comprised of two 
independent Directors and two non- 
independent Directors. The Chairman 
of the Board is the Chairman of the 
Committee.

The composition of the Remuneration 
Committee does not comply with 
Recommendation 8.1 of the ASX Principles 
to the extent that it recommends that a 
remuneration committee consists of a 
majority of independent Directors and 
is chaired by an independent Director. 
However, the Board believes that, in the 
context of the current make-up and size of 
the Board, the perspective and expertise 
that the current members bring to the 
Committee is appropriate.

The Committee charter is available on the 
company’s website at www.sunrice.com.au.

of the Committee members and their 
attendance at the meetings of the 
Committee are included in the Directors’ 
Report of the company’s Annual Report.

The company does not have an equity-
based remuneration scheme and 
therefore Recommendation 8.3 is not 
applicable.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
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2. Company Secretaries
 

3. Principal activities

4. Consolidated entity result

5. Review of operations

Rice Pool business
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International Rice business

Rice Food business

CopRice

 

Riviana

Corporate
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8. Likely developments and expected results of operations

9. Environmental regulation

• 

• 

Greenhouse gas and energy data reporting requirements 

10. Paddy supply
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Rank Shareholder    No. of B Class Shares

Laurie Arthur
BAgSc GAICD 
Chairman 
Non-executive Director 
Grower

 

Rob Gordon
BSc (Hons) CEng 
Executive Director 

Glen Andreazza
AdvDipAgr FAICD 
Non-executive Director 
Grower

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
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John Bradford
MAICD 
Non-executive Director 
Grower (Elected RMB Director)

Ian Glasson
BEng (Hons) MAICD 
Non-executive Independent 
Director

Noel Graham
MBA FAICD 
Non-executive Director 
Grower (Elected RMB Member)

Gillian Kirkup
MAICD 
Non-executive Director 
Grower (Elected RMB Member)

Grant F Latta AM
MBA BBus FAICD FAIM FAMI CPA 
Non-executive Independent 
Director
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Mark Robertson
MAICD 
Non-executive Director 
Grower

Leigh Vial
B.Agr.Sci., M.Ec., PhD in Agronomy, 
GAICD 
Non-executive Director 
Grower

Mandy Del Gigante
BComm, CPA, AGIA, ACIS, GAICD 
Company Secretary

John Brennan
BComm, MBA, FCA (Ireland), ACA 
(Australia), AICD, AGIA, ACIS 

Directors’ interests in A and B Class shares of Ricegrowers Limited

2017 2016

A Class 
Shares

B Class  
Shares

A Class  
Shares

B Class  
Shares

 1  233,818 

 1  100,897 

 2  80,279 

 1  67,424 

 -  29,838 

 1  224,539 

 2  104,570 

 2  30,663 
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14. Directors’ meetings

Board
Finance & Audit 
Committee

Grower Services 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Safety, Health 
& Environment 
Committee

Corporations Act 2001 Corporations Act 2001 

17. Non-audit services
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18. Remuneration report (audited)

Executive Summary

Rewards Philosophy

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

A year in review

Corporations Act 2001
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Outline of this Remuneration Report

Performance Results 
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

40,289 

415

61.3

10.3%

33.0

26.7%

1. Overview

2. Key Management Personnel
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Name Position

A) Current Directors (including the Executive Director)

B) Current Executives

 

3. Remuneration Governance at Ricegrowers Limited

3.1 Remuneration Consultants 

3.2 Corporate Governance

4. Executive Remuneration Policy and Framework
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Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR) Variable ‘at risk’ remuneration

Remuneration 
Framework 
for the FY17 
reporting 
period 

Total Fixed Remuneration

• 
• 

• 
• 

• 

Short Term Incentive (STI)

 

• 

• 

•  

• 

 

Long Term Incentive (LTI)

Ricegrowers 
Limited Business 
Strategic Goals

• 
• 
• 
• 

Reward 
Strategy  

•  

• 

• 

• 

• 

•  

 

TOTAL
REWARDS

REMUNERATION INCENTIVES

BENEFITS

HEALTH & 
WELL-BEINGRECOGNITION

CAREER
PATH



51

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(CONTINUED)

4.1. Remuneration mix

4.2.  Total Fixed Remuneration 

4.3.  Short-Term Incentive (STI) plan

TFR 
50%

STI 
25%

LTI 
25%

CEO Ricegrowers Limited

TFR 
60%

STI 
40%

LTI 
0%

TFR 
60%

STI 
40%

LTI 
0%

GM Consumer Markets
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Executive STI Plan

Objectives

Eligibility

Instrument

Opportunity  

Performance Period

Gateway

Assessment of 
performance

Assessment

Weighting Link to strategy Detail
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4.5  FY17 CEO STI Plan 

Objective Rationale link to strategy STI Measurement
Target 
Value

Total Value 
Percentage

FY17 
Achievement 

Value

FY17 
Achievement 

Percentage

#1 Maximise Grower 
Returns

#2 Maximise Group 

(NPAT)

#3 Ensure the Welfare 
and Safety of our 
People

#4 Grower Services, 
Agronomy and 
Sourcing Capability

#5 Critical Strategic 
Business Priorities

$627,000 100% $501,600 80%

4.6  FY17 STI Outcomes 

KMP
Target STI 

opportunity As a % of TFR STI Outcome % Achieved % Forfeited 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(CONTINUED)

LTI Component

Eligibility

Instrument  

Quantum

Grant Date

Frequency

Performance Period

Performance Hurdles

Vesting Schedule

Termination

• 

• 

• 

• 

4.7 Long-term Incentive plan
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(CONTINUED)

5. Remuneration tables

Post-
employment 

Name

Cash Salary 
and fees 

$
Cash Bonus 

$

Non-
Monetary 

2  
$ 

Super-
annuation 

$

Termination 
 

$

Share-based 
payments 

$

Other 
long-term 

1 

$

Total Paid and 
Payable 

$

R Gordon

J Brennan

M Bazley3

D Keldie

Former Executives

G Woods5&6
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(CONTINUED)

6. Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

6.1. Non-Executive Director (NEDs) Remuneration Fees 

• 
• 

• 

• 
• 
• 

6.2. Fee pool

6.3. Directors 2017 fee structure

Chair fee $ Member fee $
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(CONTINUED)

6.4. Non-Executive Director Statutory Remuneration

Total

Current Directors

Cash Salary  
and fees 

$

Cash Salary and fees 
Other Controlled Entities  

$
Superannuation 

$ $

LJ Arthur

NG Graham 

GA Andreazza 

GL Kirkup 

GF Latta

DM Robertson

JMJ Bradford

LK Vial

ID Glasson1
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Former Directors

Cash Salary  
and fees 

$

Cash Salary and fees 
Other Controlled Entities  

$
Superannuation 

$
Total 

$

P M Margin 

AD Walsh 

Service Agreements

Name and Role Term of Agreement Notice Periods

Share holdings
Directors’ and other KMP interests in A and B Class shares of Ricegrowers Limited

Held at 30 April 2017 Held at 1 May 2016

Director
A Class  
Shares

B Class  
Shares

Net Change in 
period

A Class 
Shares

B Class  
Shares

 1  233,818 

 1  100,897 

 2  80,279 

 1  67,424 

 -  29,838 

 1  224,539 

 2  104,570 

 2  30,663 

Other Key Management Personnel 2017 B Class Shares 2016 B Class Shares

14,784

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(CONTINUED)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
(CONTINUED)

Issuing entity 2017 2016

886,822 

Transaction type and class of other party
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

Purchases of rice from Directors 4,477 4,503

Sale of inputs to Directors 165 49

Sale of stockfeed to Directors - 28

 

7. Voting and comments made at Ricegrowers Limited’s Annual General Meeting

19. Auditor’s independence declaration

Corporations Act 2001

20. Rounding of amounts
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

Corporations Act 2001

Corporations Regulations 2001 

Corporations Act 2001
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
 
 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757  
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo  NSW  2000,  
GPO BOX 2650 Sydney NSW 2001 
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au  
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

As lead auditor for the audit of Ricegrowers Limited for the year ended 30 April 2017, I declare that to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:  

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Ricegrowers Limited and the entities it controlled during the period. 

  

Paddy Carney Sydney 
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
  

22 June 2017 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME 
STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2017

Note
2017 

$’000
2016 

$’000

1,109,266

3,549

Revenue from continuing operations 1,112,815 

38

(3,223)

(30,016)

(676,613)

(97,307)

(122,015)
(21,451)

(10,921)

(111,057)

39

40,289 

(6,053)

34,236 

34,201

35

34,236 

 61.3

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2017

Note
2017 

$’000
2016 

$’000

34,236 

3,532

986

(1,060)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 3,458

Total comprehensive income for the year 37,694

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:

37,373

321

37,694

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED  
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 APRIL 2017

Note
2017 

$’000
2016 

$’000

Current assets

 59,978 

 123,076 

 371,572 

8,175

 466 

Total current assets  563,267 

Non-current assets

 43 

 217,977 

 1,150 

 9,064 

 17,251 

 1,750 

Total non-current assets  247,235 

Total assets 810,502  

Current liabilities

101,498

114,361

65,817

830

16,823

1,306

Total current liabilities 300,635

Non current liabilities

1,871

20,387

79,061

3,673

Total non-current liabilities 104,992

Total liabilities 405,627  

Net assets 404,875

Equity

107,819

4,641

269,632

382,092

22,783

Total equity 404,875  

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2017

Attributable to Ricegrowers Limited shareholders

Contributed 
equity 
$000’s

Reserves 
$000’s

Retained 
 

$000’s
Total 

$000’s

Non-
controlling 

interests 
$000’s

Total Equity 
$000’s

107,819 9,425 253,833 371,077 19,151 390,228

- - 34,201 34,201 35 34,236

- 3,172 - 3,172 286 3,458

-  3,172 34,201 37,373 321 37,694

- (7,956) - (7,956) 3,311 (4,645)

- - (18,402) (18,402) - (18,402)

-  (7,956) (18,402) (26,358) 3,311 (23,047)

107,819 4,641 269,632 382,092 22,783 404,875

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED  
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2017

Note
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

 1,131,466 

(606,982)

(219,134)

(122,541)

 581 

(11,029)

(30,583)

141,778 

(21,919)

243

(2,600)

(24,276)

177,781

(335,000)

(624)

(4,425)

(4,645)

(18,402)

(185,315)

(67,813)

115,067 

2,626

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 49,880 
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Corporations Act 2001

Compliance with IFRS     

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to AASB 101

Historical cost convention     

Critical accounting estimates

(b) Principles of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2017
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(ii) Associates

(iii) Change in ownership interests without change in control

(c) Foreign currency translation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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• 
• 

(e) Investment property

(f) Inventory 

(g) Property, plant and equipment and leasehold improvements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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(h) Impairment of assets

(i) Intangible assets

 

(j) Research and development costs  

 

(k) Trade receivables and accounts payable 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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(l) Borrowings

(m) Grower payables

Short term obligations

Long term obligations

(o) Income tax

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(p) Financial Instruments
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(q) Cash and cash equivalents

(r) Revenue recognition

(s) Leases

(t) Business Combinations

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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(u) Segment reporting

(v) Provisions

(w) Dividends

 

(x) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

 

(y) Contributed equity

(z) Rounding of amounts

(aa) Earnings per share

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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(ab) New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted
 
 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments
Financial Instruments

(ii) AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
April 2019)

(iii) AASB 16 Leases

(ac) Parent entity information

(i) Investments in subsidiaries

(ii) Tax consolidation legislation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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2. Financial risk management

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

2017 
USD $000’s

2016 
USD $000’s

2,628

94,320

(51,149)

(168,900)

44,475

(78,626)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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Sensitivity analysis

30 April 2017
Weighted average  

interest rate %
Balance 

$000’s

 0.7 23,060

 2.9 (144,932)

 4.0 31,000

(90,872)

30 April 2016
Weighted average 

interest rate %
Balance 

$000’s

Sensitivity analysis

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk

(c) Liquidity risk

Financing arrangements

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

Floating rate:

 17,247 

 316,669 

 71,000 

 404,916 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

30 April 2017

Less than 
12 months 

$000’s

Between 1 
and 2 years 

$000’s

Between 2 
and 5 years 

$000’s

Over   
5 years 
$000’s

Total  
contractual  

 
$000’s

Total 
carrying 
amount 

$000’s

Non-derivatives

 215,859  20,387  -    1,871  238,117  238,117 

 69,809  45,667  36,106  -    151,582  144,932 

 521  289  179 -  989  947 

 286,189  66,343  36,285  1,871  390,688  383,996 

Derivatives

 -   1,079  138  -    1,217 1,217

358,587  -    -   -  358,587  -  

(358,964)  -    -   -  (358,964) (377)

(377)  1,079  138  -    840  840 

30 April 2016

Less than 
12 months 

$000’s

Between 1 
and 2 years 

$000’s

Between  
2 and 5 years 

$000’s

Over  
5 years 
$000’s

Total  
contractual  

 
$000’s

Total 
carrying 
amount 

$000’s

Non-derivatives

Derivatives
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

3. Fair value measurement

2017 2016

Recurring fair value measurements
Level 2 

$’000
Level 3 

$’000
Total 
$’000

Level 2 
$’000

Level 3 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Assets

-  1,150  1,150 

 466 -  466 

 466  1,150  1,616 

Liabilities

 -   

 89 -  89 

 1,217 -  1,217 

 1,306  -    1,306 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

(i) Impairment of assets

(ii) Raw material inventory and amounts payable to growers

(iii) Deferred tax assets not recognised for capital losses and USA ordinary losses

(iv) Provisions and contingent liabilities
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

• 

• 
• 

• 

• 
 

6. Revenue 2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

Sales revenue

1,109,266 1,265,908

1,109,266 1,265,908

Other revenue  

581 587

2,968 3,657

3,549 4,244

1,112,815 1,270,152

 

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

38 

38 26
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8. Expenses

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

Contributions to employee superannuation plans (3,219)

Depreciation and amortisation

(7,310)

(550)

(10,988)

(964)

(1,639)

(21,451)

Other expenses

(12,147)

(19,524)

(13,836)

(1,055)

(22,532)

(11,144)

(3,583)

(1,798)

(2,645)

(7,492)

(84)

(15,217)

Total other expenses (111,057)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

9. Income tax expense
(a) Income tax expense 2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

(2,731)

(4,689)

1,367

(6,053)

(5,935)

1,246

(4,689)

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable 2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

 40,289   

(12,087)  

(41)

272

(874)

(120)

 909 

100

246

- 

4,421 

1,367 

(6,053)

(c) Tax relating to items of other comprehensive income 2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

(1,060)

(1,060)

(d) Tax consolidation legislation
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

 

 
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

59,978

59,978 

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year

59,978

(10,098)

49,880 

(b) Risk exposure

 

11. Receivables
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

Current

110,363

(1,121)

109,242 

4,904

5,694

3,236

123,076 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(a) Impaired trade receivables 2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

22

5

1,094

1,121 

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

1,416

54

(105)

(260)

16

1,121

(b) Past due but not impaired 2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

10,111

369

10,480 

(c) Fair values

(d) Risk exposure
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12. Inventories
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

Current

 241,047 

 110,172 

 11,218 

 9,135 

 371,572 

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

Current assets

 466 

 466 

Current liabilities

 1,217 

 89 

 1,306 

(a) Instruments used by the Group

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 
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(b) Risk exposure

 
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

1,750

Ownership Interest

Name of company
Principal 
activity 2017 2016

28.85%

(a) Movements in carrying amounts
Consolidated

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

1,684

39

27

1,750

(b) Share of associates’ losses 

39  

Assets 
$000’s

Liabilities 
$000’s

Revenues 
$000’s

 
$000’s

2017 14,589 8,523 2,714 134

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

15. Property, plant and equipment 
2017 

$000's
2016 

$000's

Freehold land

15,610 

15,610 

Buildings

204,481 

(98,740)

105,741 

Leasehold improvements

17,409 

(7,184)

10,225 

Plant and equipment

252,273 

(175,863)

3,191 

(2,453)

77,148 

Capital works in progress

9,253

 217,977   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

Reconciliations

Land & 
Buildings 

$000’s

Leasehold 
Improvements 

$000’s

Plant & 
Equipment 

$000’s

Assets under 
construction 

$000’s
Totals 
$000’s

124,217  9,142 82,067 2,540 217,966 

-  1,935 2,811 16,480 21,226 

-  -   237 - 237 

3,286  62 6,408 (9,756) - 

(162)  (10) (237) - (409)

(7,310)  (964) (11,538) - (19,812)

1,103  -   (2,851) - (1,748)

217  60 251 (11) 517 

121,351  10,225 77,148 9,253 217,977 

Land & 
Buildings 

$000’s

Leasehold 
Improvements 

$000’s

Plant & 
Equipment 

$000’s

Assets under 
construction 

$000’s
Totals 
$000’s

Assets pledged as security
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

16. Intangibles
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

4,829

9,623 

(6,782)

2,841 

8,149 

(6,987)

1,162 

412 

(180)

232 

9,064  

Goodwill 
$000’s

Brands 
$000’s

Software 
$000’s

Other 
$000’s

Total 
$000’s

4,299 2,580 1,920 32 8,831 

2,005 584 159 545 3,293 

(1,475) - - - (1,475)

- (367) (917) (355) (1,639)

- 44 - 10 54 

4,829 2,841 1,162 232 9,064 

Goodwill 
$000’s

Brands 
$000’s

Software 
$000’s

Other 
$000’s

Total 
$000’s

 

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

34 

- 

4,610 

185 

4,829 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations

CGU Long-term Growth Rate Pre Tax Discount Rate

2017 
%

2016 
%

2017 
%

2016 
%

1.5 11.9

1.5 12.5

1.5 12.7

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

17. Investment properties

At fair value
2017 

$000's
2016 

$000's

1,150 

1,150 

Valuation basis
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18. Deferred tax assets
2017 

$000's
2016 

$000's

5,617

3,227

4,603

14

3,380

1,780

825

19,446 

274 

19,720 

(2,469)

17,251 

13,537 

6,183 

19,720 

Movements

26,586 

(5,935)

75

(1,006)

19,720 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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19. Payables
2017 

$000's
2016 

$000's

Current

101,498

-  

101,498

114,361

215,859 

Non-current

1,871

1,871

20,387

22,258 

(a) Fair values

(b) Risk exposure

20. Borrowings 
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

Current  
Secured

10,098

55,834

(611)

496

65,817 

Non current  
Secured

79,000

(390)

451

79,061 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Fair values

(c) Carrying amount of all assets pledged as security

(d) Risk exposure

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

55,834

79,000

134,834

Representing:

55,834

79,000

134,834

Seasonal debt

Core debt
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

21. Provisions 
2017 

$000's
2016 

$000's

Current

16,310

114

399

-

16,823

Non current

3,673

3,673

Employee 
 

$000’s

Employee 
allowances 

$000’s

Directors' 
retirement 

 
$000’s

Other 
$000’s

Total 
$000’s

19,761 218 399 4,707 25,085 

212 - - - 212 

- - - (4,707) (4,707)

- (104) - - (104)

10 - - - 10 

19,983 114 399 - 20,496 

Employee 
 

$000’s

Employee 
allowances 

$000’s

Directors' 
retirement 

 
$000’s

Other 
$000’s

Total 
$000’s

(b) Fair values
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

22. Deferred tax liabilities 
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

71 

1,764

405

-

2,240

229 

2,469 

(2,469)

- 

2,469 

2,469 

Movements

3,415 

(1,246)

71

54 

175 

2,469 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

23. Contributed equity
(a) Share capital 2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

107,819  

B Class shares
 

 

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

A Class shares

(b) Capital risk management

Notes
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

144,878 

-  

(59,978)

84,900

404,875  

17%
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Reserves
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

28,453

4,917

(20,491)

(282)

(7,956)

 4,641 

269,632

(a) Movements 2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

Foreign currency translation reserve

(21,191)

986

(286)

(20,491)

(2,754)

3,532

(1,060)

-  

(282)

Transaction with non-controlling interests

-  

(7,956)

(7,956)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

253,833

34,201

(18,402)

269,632

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Asset revaluation reserve

(ii) General reserve

(iii) Foreign currency translation reserve
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25. Franked dividends 
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

 18,402 

 18,402 

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

 74,100 

26. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities  

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

 34,722 

 2,774 

 37,496 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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27. Commitments for expenditure
2017 

$000’s
2016 

$000’s

(a) Capital commitments (property, plant and equipment)

 2,598

(b) Lease commitments

 5,631 

 7,950 

 2,776 

 16,357 

 16,357 

521

469

990

(43)

947

 496 

 451 

 947 

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

 16,310 

 3,673 

 19,983 

Employee numbers  Number  Number 

 2,190

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

29. Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries

Name of entity
Country of 
Incorporation Principal activities

2017
%

2016 
%

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

66.23

66.23

66.23

100

100

80

100

100

100

* Entities part of a Deed of Cross Guarantee that are relieved under the ASIC Legislative 

Non-controlling interests
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

30. Related party transactions
(a) Parent entity

(b) Subsidiaries

(c) Directors and other Key Management Personnel
(i) Directors and other Key Management Personnel compensation

2017 
$

2016 
$

3,993,370

187,748 

- 

296,417

4,477,535 

(ii) Share holdings
Directors’ and other KMP interests in A and B Class shares of Ricegrowers Limited

2017 2016

Director
A Class 
Shares

B Class  
Shares

A Class  
Shares

B Class  
Shares

 1  233,818 

 1  100,897 

 2  80,279 

 1  67,424 

 -  29,838 

 1  224,539 

 2  104,570 

 2  30,663 

Other Key Management Personnel

2017 
B Class  
Shares

2016 
B Class  
Shares

14,784

Issuing entity 2017 2016

886,822
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(iii) Transactions with Directors and other Key Management Personnel

2017 
$

2016
$

Transactions and  
outstanding balances  Transactions 

 Outstanding  
Balances  Transactions 

 Outstanding  
Balances 

4,476,783 3,104,389

164,849 -  

-  -  

4,641,632 3,104,389

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

34,236

21,451

(38)

(731)

 3,223 

(39)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

10,717

10,299

81,949

23,515

(17,899)

(29,594)

4,689

141,778  
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(a) Basic and diluted earnings per share 2017 
Cents

2016 
Cents

 61.3   

(b) Reconciliation of earnings per share 2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

 34,201 

(c) Weighted average number of shares used as a denominator 2017 
000’s

2016 
000’s

 55,762

33. Subsequent events 
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34. Parent entity information

2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

Balance sheet

452,671

618,938

274,510

377,055

107,819

18,657 

(639)

116,046 

241,883 

(1,793)

Total comprehensive income (1,086)

(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity

(c) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

- 

1,499 

1,499 

(d) Contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment
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2017 
$000’s

2016 
$000’s

Balance sheet

90,277 

26,313 

(45,589)

(1,783)

69,218 

23,375 

Statement of comprehensive income 

268,179

(601)

824 

223 

(203)

75 

(54,320)

(4,027)

(1,292)

(59,639)
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36. Business combination

Purchase consideration $000's

2,600

2,600 

$000's

185

585

(175)

595 

2,005

Net assets acquired 2,600 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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37. Segment information
Business segments

Rice Pool 

International Rice

• 

• 

Rice Food

Riviana Foods (Riviana)

CopRice

Corporate
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Performance 

Rice Pool 
$000’s

International 
Rice 

$000’s
Rice Food 

$000’s
Riviana 

$000’s
CopRice 

$000’s
Corporate 

$000’s
Total 

$000’s

280,874 505,948 113,030 126,333 103,927 29,371 1,159,483 

(15,704) (49) (439) (12) (4,912) (29,101) (50,217)

265,170 505,899 112,591 126,321 99,015 270 1,109,266 

3,549 

1,112,815 

(32,463) 27,647 7,892 8,514 (1,542) 25,925 35,973 

4,316 

40,289 

(4,183) (4,905) (2,277) (555) (1,474) (8,057) (21,451)

(79) (3,668) (1,100) 1,624 - - (3,223)

8,995 7,933 1,343 3,056 1,407 1,785 24,519 

363,502 236,294 45,124 60,968 41,347 175,974 923,209 

(153,122)

14,989 

8,175

17,251 

810,502 

197,678 178,832 10,720 22,751 5,732 65,163 480,876 

(220,957)

830 

144,878 

405,627 
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Rice Pool 
$000’s

International 
Rice 

$000’s
Rice Food 

$000’s
Riviana 

$000’s
CopRice 

$000’s
Corporate 

$000’s
Total 

$000’s

Other segment information - geographical areas

 Australia 
$000’s

 PNG  
$000’s

 Other  
$000’s

 Total  
$000’s

2017

467,756 268,179 373,331 1,109,266 

2016
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38. Remuneration of auditors

(a) Assurance services

Audit services
2017 

$
2016 

$

 453,000

 104,873

 25,684

Total remuneration for audit services 583,557

(b) Accounting services

-

4,944

Total remuneration for accounting services 4,944

(c) Taxation services

 348,357

 87,920

Total remuneration for taxation services 436,277

39. Deed of cross guarantee
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comprehensive income and summary of movements in consolidated retained 
earnings

2017 
$000's

2016 
$000's

700,932

13,344

Revenue from continuing operations 714,276 

2

(6,283)

(424,603)

(98,200)

(16,879)

(10,779)

(148,507)

9,027 

(3,685)

5,342 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

5,342  

3,532

(1,060)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 2,472

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,814

Summary of movements in consolidated retained earnings

199,749

5,342

(18,402)

186,689
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(b) Consolidated balance sheet

2017 
$000's

2016 
$000's

Current assets

 14,989 

 178,730 

 299,518 

 5,301 

 466 

 499,004 

Non-current assets

 628 

 3,967 

 178,983 

 1,150 

 7,201 

 11,463 

 203,392 

Total assets 702,396  

Current liabilities

91,846

114,361

65,746

-  

14,694

1,217

287,864

Non current liabilities

20,387

78,877

2,383

101,647

Total liabilities 389,511  

Net assets 312,885

Equity

107,819

18,377

186,689

Total equity 312,885
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report 
To the members of Ricegrowers Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report 
Our opinion 
In our opinion: 

The accompanying financial report of Ricegrowers Limited (the Company or SunRice) and its 
controlled entities (together, the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 April 2017 and of its
financial performance for the year then ended;

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

What we have audited
The Group’s financial report comprises: 

the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 April 2017;

the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies; and

the directors’ declaration.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo  NSW  2000, 
GPO BOX 2650 Sydney NSW 2001
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au  

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Our audit approach 
An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates.

Materiality

For the purpose of our audit, we used overall group quantitative materiality of $4.5 million, which
was based on a combination of profit before tax and revenue based benchmarks.
We applied this threshold, together with qualitative considerations, to determine the scope of our
audit, the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of
misstatements on the financial report as a whole.
We chose a combination of profit before tax and revenue-based benchmarks, to better reflect the
unique nature of SunRice’s organisational structure. In our view, revenue is the metric against
which the performance of the rice pool business is most commonly measured, because of its non-
profit nature. In respect of the profit orientated businesses of the Group, in our view, profit before
tax is the metric against which their performance is most commonly measured. By using both of
these benchmarks, we determined a range of potential materiality outcomes, and applied our
professional judgement to select a value at the lower end of this range which, in our view, reflected
the relativity of the different businesses within the overall operations of the Group.

Audit scope

Our audit focused on where the directors made subjective judgements; for example, significant
accounting estimates involving assumptions and inherently uncertain future events.
We decided the nature, timing and extent of work that needed to be performed by us and the
component auditor operating under our instructions. We then structured our audit approach as
follows:
– Given their financial significance, we and the component auditor audited the component

financial information of Ricegrowers Limited (including SunRice and CopRice), Trukai (Papua
New Guinea (PNG)) and Ricegrowers Singapore.
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– We performed specific risk-focused audit procedures over selected balance sheet and income
statement balances (including cash and cash equivalents, receivables, inventories, property,
plant and equipment, payables, provisions and revenue) of Riviana Foods, SunFoods (United
States of America) and Australian Grain Storage.

– We performed analytical procedures over the balance sheet and income statement balances of
the remaining businesses of the Group.

– We performed further audit procedures at the Group level, including over the consolidation of
the components’ financial information and the preparation of the financial report.

Work was performed by a component auditor in PNG. For these procedures, we decided on the
level of involvement required from us to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate audit
evidence had been obtained. Our involvement included issuing written instructions and
maintaining an active and open dialogue with the component auditor, including receiving written
reports, reviewing their work and attending meetings with local management.
In planning our work, we ensured that the audit team possessed the appropriate skills,
competencies and industry expertise which are needed for the audit of the SunRice Group.

Key audit matters 
We communicated the key audit matters to the Finance and Audit Committee. Key audit matters are 
those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a particular audit 
procedure is made in that context.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter

Impairment of assets
(Refer to notes 2, 5, 15 and 16) 
We focused on the risk of impairment of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets because of the potential material impact 
on the profit for the year and because of the 
judgement involved in:
- Assessing whether indicators of impairment

exist and whether there are conditions
supporting the reversal of previously booked
impairment charges

- Assessing the expected future use of the
Group’s assets and the expected future
profitability of their related businesses

- Estimating the fair value of the Group’s
assets, which may require the Group to
engage external experts to perform complex
valuations.

We used our understanding of the business and 
the industry it operates in to evaluate the Group’s
assessment of the changes that affected each of its
Cash Generating Units (CGU) and to evaluate
whether indicators of impairment existed and 
whether there were conditions supporting the 
reversal of previously recognised impairment. 
In relation to the $2.1m impairment of the 
Brandon mill assets, we examined the 
independent asset valuation reports obtained by 
the Group and evaluated the competency, 
experience, objectivity and qualification of the 
valuers, as well as the appropriateness of the 
methodologies used.  
Using our understanding of the past performance 
of this business, we also considered the outcome 
of the Group’s recently completed strategic review 
of the Brandon mill which triggered the full 
impairment of goodwill of $1.5m at 30 April 2017.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
(CONTINUED)
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter

macroeconomic factors, including exchange
rates, availability of USD and the possible 
introduction of import quotas. These factors
may trigger a risk of impairment of a number
of Trukai’s assets.

In relation to the impairment of other 
manufacturing assets which resulted in a $1.1m
impairment of a specific manufacturing line and a 
$1.6m reversal of a previously recognised 
impairment of the Wacol assets, we used our 
understanding of the future use of the assets and 
expected performance of the underlying 
businesses to evaluate the appropriateness of the 
Group’s decisions.  
We also considered the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures in the financial report in relation to 
impairment in the light of the requirements of 
Australian Accounting Standards. 
With regards to PNG, we and the component 
auditor:
- Held discussions with local and group

management and directors to develop an
understanding of how the Group monitored
the economic and political situation and
considered its responses

- Observed stabilisation in the Kina/USD
exchange rate and improved availability of
USD in PNG

- Identified that the introduction of import
quotas in the PNG domestic rice market would
remain uncertain until the local elections later
in the year

- Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made in
the financial report in relation to these areas of
uncertainty.

Inventory valuation
(Refer to note 12) 
We focused on this matter because:
- Inventory is a material asset to the Group

and there are multiple types of inventory
items requiring different costing techniques

- The valuation of current and prior seasons’
paddy rice required the Group to assess
current and expected future returns and to
exercise discretion in setting an appropriate
price for each crop year

- Judgement was required in estimating
future selling prices used in valuing other
finished product inventory at net realisable
value

We performed the following procedures, amongst 
others:
- We assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s

valuation of the current and prior seasons’
crops in the light of guaranteed rice prices in
FY17 and actual and expected future returns

- We tested the costing of a sample of inventory
items across the range of inventory types by
tracing costs to the supporting documentation

- We recalculated, on a sample basis, the
amount of the unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies that was eliminated
at year end

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
(CONTINUED)



120

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
(CONTINUED)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter

- Providing for quality or obsolescence issues
required assumptions on the potential
future use of inventory items

- As a normal part of the Group’s operations,
a significant amount of inventory was
transferred between group entities, which
required a material consolidation
adjustment to eliminate unrealised
intercompany profits at year end.

- We discussed the Group’s processes for
identifying quality or obsolescence matters and
assessed the appropriateness of the provisions
raised through understanding the planned
future use of the inventory

- We considered a sample of sales adjustments
processed in May 2017 for additional evidence
of customer claims, quality or other net
realisable value issues

- For a sample of inventory items sold in May
2017, we compared the selling price to the
carrying value of the sampled inventory item at
year end.

Adequacy of trade allowances accruals
(Refer to note 1.r) 
The Group sells products to customers 
(retailers and distributors) which are often 
sold using price promotions to final 
consumers. The Group’s customers claim back 
the value of these promotions from the Group 
after the promotions have occurred (which 
may be subsequent to the period end). The 
Group estimates and accrues for these 
allowances at each reporting date, to the extent 
they relate to revenue recognised in the 
reporting period. 
We focused on the trade allowances accruals 
due to their significance and because
estimating the amount payable to customers at 
year end is complex and involves judgement to 
estimate the volume affected.

We updated our understanding of the different 
types of promotional arrangements the Group had 
in place and the processes established to capture 
these arrangements. 
In order to assess the accuracy and the 
completeness of the balances accrued at year end: 
- We compared a sample of accrued balances

with the amounts claimed by the sampled
customers subsequent to year end

- On a sample basis, we agreed that the amounts
accrued at year end had been calculated in
accordance with the terms of the underlying
customer contractual arrangements

- On a sample basis, we considered the
assumptions and judgments used by the Group
in calculating year end accruals by reviewing
historical trends of claims, and where available,
external retail or distributor sales data

- We evaluated the historical reliability of the
Group's estimates by comparing a sample of
accruals raised in the prior reporting period
with the amounts claimed in the current
reporting period

- We  a sample of claims received in May
2017, and, where they related to sales made by
the Group before year end, we checked that
they had been accrued at year end.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter

Tax effect accounting
(Refer to notes 9, 18 and 22) 
The Group operates in a number of countries 
and is required to understand the tax laws in 
each jurisdiction and to appropriately apply 
these to each entities’ tax calculations and the 
overall Group’s tax position. The Group has 
recognised deferred tax assets relating to 
available tax losses in some of these 
jurisdictions.
We focused on the accounting for taxes 
because of the complexity associated with 
different tax jurisdictions and because 
accounting for taxes requires the Group to 
make assumptions, in particular when 
determining whether there will be enough 
future taxable profits in order for recognised 
deferred tax assets to be realised.

We developed an understanding of the nature of 
the Group’s tax structure and of the main tax 
jurisdictions in which it operates.  
For those individual entities in the Group with 
significant income tax expense or deferred tax 
balances, we agreed a sample of inputs in the tax 
calculations to relevant supporting information 
and assessed the appropriateness of a sample of 
permanent and timing differences based on our 
understanding of the relevant tax jurisdictions. 
We also evaluated the Group’s assessment of the
recoverability of deferred tax assets, in particular 
when they related to available tax losses, by 
considering the Group’s forecasts of the future 
performance of the businesses they related to. 

SunFoods - transaction with non-
controlling interests
(Refer to notes 5, 8 and 24) 
At 30 April 2016, SunRice recognised a 
provision of $4.7m in respect of a legal dispute 
with the 35% minority shareholders of 
SunFoods. During FY17, SunRice purchased 
the remaining stake for $4.6m. As a result, the 
legal provision was reversed in FY17 and the 
acquisition of the minority shares was 
recognised in equity as a movement between 
Non-Controlling Interests (NCI) and Reserves, 
at a value of $7.9m, representing the cash 
payment of $4.6m plus the share of the 
SunFoods accumulated losses now attributable 
to SunRice of $3.3m.  
We focused on this matter because of its size 
and the complexity of the accounting 
treatment. 

We agreed the terms of the arrangement in the 
accounting paper the Group prepared to support 
the proposed accounting treatment of the 
transaction to the signed settlement agreement.
We assessed the Group’s proposed accounting 
treatment and disclosures in the light of the 
requirements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards and considered possible alternative 
accounting treatments that could apply in the 
circumstances. 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information included in the Group’s 
annual report for the year ended 30 April 2017 comprises the director’s report (but does not include 
the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report. The other information also includes the chairman and CEO messages, information 
about SunRice’s business, its five-year performance, its growers, its rice pool business, its profit 
businesses, its sustainability, its Board of directors, its corporate management team, the corporate 
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governance statement and the corporate directory, which are expected to be made available to us after 
the date of this report. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received as identified above, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use 
our professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar2.pdf. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.  
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Report on the remuneration report
Our opinion on the remuneration report
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages  to of the directors’ report for
the year ended 30 April 2017.

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Ricegrowers Limited, for the year ended 30 April 2017
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Paddy Carney
Partner 

22 June 2017
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